

## MÉMOIRE D'HABILITATION À DIRIGER DES RECHERCHES

présenté le 12 Avril 2024

à l'École Normale Supérieure de Lyon

par

Matteo Mio

**Recent Results on Quantitative Equational Logic** 

Résultats Récents sur la Logique Équationnelle Quantitative

Devant le jury composé de :

Ugo Dal Lago	University of Bologna, Italy	Rapporteur
Stefan Milius	FAU Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany	Rapporteur
Catuscia Palamidessi	École Polytechnique, France	Examinatrice
Prakash Panangaden	McGill University, Canada	Examinateur
Damien Pous	École Normale Supérieure de Lyon,	Examinateur
	France	
Ana Sokolova	University of Salzburg, Austria	Rapporteuse

## Acknowledgments

First of all, I want to express all my gratitude to the many extraordinary teachers and mentors I have had the privilege to encounter during the course of my life. Without their ability to share knowledge, method and, most importantly, passion, this document would have never been written.

Secondly, I want to thank all my collaborators, students and coauthors. It has been both a pleasure and an honour to work with all of them. In particular, I want to thank Valeria Vignudelli and Ralph Sarkis as this manuscript is based on joint works with them.

The scientific community I have been exposed to, since my PhD studies, and to which I am happy to belong today, has always been extremely welcoming and supportive. I have always been given more help, guidance, opportunities and recognition than I truly deserved.

The topic of this manuscript has originated from a seminal conference paper of Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden and Gordon Plotkin MPP16]. I want to thank all of them for being so welcoming and helpful to newcomers. Radu came to ENS-Lyon in 2016, to work on a paper we were writing together MFM17], and gave a talk regarding quantitative algebras that started my interest on the topic. Prakash (with Alexandra Silva) organised a Workshop on quantitative algebras at the Bellairs Research Institute, Barbados, in May 2023, and kindly invited me. This has been an extremely useful experience and has helped shaping the content of this manuscript. Gordon has recently honoured us by giving an invited talk at the QUALOG<sup>1</sup> workshop ("QUAntitative LOGical methods", Boston, USA, June 2023) which I organised together with Prakash.

I am also very grateful to Ugo Dal Lago, Stefan Milius, Prakash Panangaden, Catuscia Palamidessi, Damien Pous and Ana Sokolova for accepting to be part of the jury that will evaluate this document.

Finally, I want to thank the members of my research group Plume, the laboratory LIP and the whole École Normale Supérieure de Lyon, for providing a very pleasant working environment. More generally, I am extremely grateful to the French CNRS for the freedom and trust it gives to its researchers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The workshop's organisation has been funded by the French ANR "Young Researcher" project QuaReMe (ANR-20-CE48-0005) which has supported my research, and that of some of my students and collaborators, since 2020.

## Preface

Starting with my PhD thesis Mio12a in 2012, the main focus on my research in the last 12 years has been the design and investigation of formal methods for reasoning about quantities, mostly in the form of probabilities. Within this general topic, my contributions can be roughly classified into three main groups:

- modal and temporal logics with a real-valued semantics: e.g., <u>Mio12b</u>, <u>Mio12c</u>, <u>MS13</u>, <u>Mio14</u>, <u>MS17</u>, <u>MFM17</u>, <u>Mio18</u>, <u>LM19</u>, <u>LM21</u>, <u>LM22</u>,
- 2. quantitative and numerical aspects of automata theory, mostly over infinite trees: e.g., MM15, GMMS17, MSM18,
- 3. quantitative equational logic, quantitative algebras and monads in categories of metric spaces: e.g., [MV20], MSV21, MSV22, MSV23.

Of course, all three topics above are deeply correlated. For example, a question originating from (Topic 1) the *game semantics* of a real-valued logic [Mio12c] motivated the (Topic 2) study of measure-theoretic properties of regular languages of infinite tress [GMMS17]. The (Topic 1) real-valued logical characterisation of bisimulation for probabilistic nondeterministic system of [Mio13] is closely related to (Topic 3) the quantitative–equational presentation of the monad (in the category of metric spaces) of convex sets of probability distributions [MV20]. Etcetera.

This document presents some recent results regarding Topic 3: quantitative equational logic, quantitative algebras and monads. These have emerged in a series of joint works, starting around 2019, with my colleague Valeria Vignudelli (CNRS and ENS-Lyon) and my PhD student Ralph Sarkis (ENS-Lyon): [MV20, MSV21, MSV22]. An extended version of this document is available as [MSV23].

# Contents

1	Introduction	4	
	1.1 Contributions	5	
	1.2 Organisation of the Document	8	
<b>2</b>	Technical Background	9	
	2.1 Universal Algebra	9	
	2.2 Category Theory	11	
	2.2.1 Monads and Adjunctions	12	
	2.2.2 Free Objects	14	
	2.2.3 Strict Monadicity	16	
	2.3 Fuzzy Relations and Generalised Metric Spaces	18	
3	Presentation of the Framework and Results	20	
	3.1 Summary of Contributions	24	
4	The Deductive System	27	
<b>5</b>	Free Quantitative Algebras	32	
	5.1 Definition of $F(A, d_A)$	33	
	5.2 Proof that $F(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$	36	
	5.3 Proof of freeness of $F(A, d_A)$	39	
	5.4 Completeness of the Deductive System	42	
6	The Free-Forgetful Adjunction and Strict Monadicity	44	
7	Lifting Presentations from Set to FRel	49	
8	From Fuzzy Relations to Generalised Metric Spaces	53	
9	O Comparison with the Framework of Mardare, Panangaden		
	and Plotkin	65	
10	<b>Conclusions and Directions for Future Work</b>	69	

## 1 Introduction

Equational reasoning and algebraic methods are widespread in all areas of computer science, and in particular in program semantics. Indeed, initial algebra semantics and monads are cornerstones of the modern theory of functional programming and are used to reason about inductive definitions, computational effects and specifications in a formal way (see, e.g., [PP03], [RT93], [Mog91], [HP07]).

In the last few decades, with the growth of quantitative methods in computing (e.g., from artificial intelligence, probabilistic programming, cyberphysical systems, *etc.*) it has become evident that traditional program equations:

 $P = Q \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \text{the programs } P \text{ and } Q \text{ have the same behavior}$ 

are not always adequate to reason about the behaviour of programs that are similar, in a certain quantitative sense, but that, strictly speaking, have different behavior. Examples include programs that differ only by small perturbations in some of their numeric constants such as probabilities, values measured from noisy sensors, scalars in a neural network, *etc.* The intuitive notion of "similar in a quantitative sense", has been formally captured in many works by means of program distances  $d(P,Q) \in [0,\infty]$  expressing numerically the divergence in behavior. See [GJS90, DGJP99, DJGP02], DEP02, vBW01b, vBW01a, vBW05 for a selection of seminal papers.

In a recent work [MPP16], Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin introduced a novel abstract mathematical "framework", called *Quantitative Algebra*, which extends ordinary Universal Algebra (see., e.g., [BS81], [Wec92]) and is designed to reason about distances that are metrics.<sup>2</sup> The standard equality judgment (s = t) of Universal Algebra is replaced by *quantitative equations* ( $s =_{\epsilon} t$ ), intuitively expressing that  $d(s,t) \leq \epsilon$ . In the program semantics context, we thus have:

 $P =_{\epsilon} Q \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \text{the difference in behavior between } P \text{ and } Q \text{ is at most } \epsilon.$ 

The usual notion from Universal Algebra of algebra  $(A, \{op^A\}_{op\in\Sigma})$  for a signature  $\Sigma$ , that is a carrier set A together with interpretations  $op^A$  for all function symbols  $op \in \Sigma$ , is replaced by that of quantitative algebra:

$$((A, d_A), \{op^A\}_{op\in\Sigma})$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Precisely, they consider *extended metrics*, which are distances  $d : X^2 \to [0, \infty]$  satisfying the following constraints for all  $x, y, z \in X$ :  $d(x, y) = 0 \Leftrightarrow x = y, d(x, y) = d(y, x)$  and  $d(x, z) \leq d(x, y) + d(y, z)$ .

where the carrier is a metric space  $(A, d_A)$  and the interpretations  $op^A$ , for all  $op \in \Sigma$ , are nonexpansive maps<sup>3</sup>.

A number of recent works have built on top of the results of the seminal [MPP16]. For a non-exhaustive list, see, e.g., [MPP17], [BMPP18], [MV20], [MSV22], [MSV21], [MPP21], [FMS21], [BMPP21], [MSV22], [Adá22], [DLHLP22, [ADV23], [GF23]. Key theoretical results in quantitative algebra include: sound and complete deductive systems, existence of free quantitative algebras generated by metric spaces, monads and composition techniques for monads in the category **Met** of metric spaces and nonexpansive maps, completion results, variety "HSP-type" theorems, *etc.* Applications of this framework can be found in the identification of useful monads in **Met** as "free quantitative algebra" monads (see, e.g., [MPP16], [MV20], [MSV21], [MSV22]) and in the quantitative axiomatisation of behavioral metrics [BMPP18], [BBLM18b], [BBLM18a], [MSV21].

Furthermore, some works have proposed extensions or modifications of the framework of [MPP16]. For instance, [MSV22] has considered quantitative algebras  $((A, d_A), \{op^A\}_{op\in\Sigma})$  where  $(A, d_A)$  is not necessarily a metric space but, more generally, a generalised metric space<sup>4</sup> (e.g., pseudometrics, quasimetrics [Wil31a], ultrametrics [BvBR98], semimetrics [Wil31b], diffuse metrics [HS00], CKPR21], rectangular metrics [Bra00], b-metrics [Cze93]). In [FMS21] this type of generalisation is pushed even further, allowing the carrier to be an arbitrary relational structure. In a different direction, in [MSV22] (see also [BBLM18b] and, in the different context of ordered algebras, [ADV22] and [AFMS21]) the authors have considered quantitative algebras where the interpretations  $op^A$ , of all  $op \in \Sigma$ , are not necessarily nonexpansive maps. This extends considerably the application of the theory, as witnessed by interesting examples (e.g., from concurrency theory in [BBLM18b] and artificial intelligence in [MSV22]).

## **1.1** Contributions

The main goal of this document is to present a generalisation of the framework of <u>MPP16</u> in a self-contained and coherent way and to prove some of the fundamental results. An extended version, containing all proofs, is available as <u>MSV23</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>More precisely, the interpretation  $op^A : (A^n, d^n_A) \to (A, d_A)$  of  $op \in \Sigma$  is nonexpansive, where  $d^n_A$  is the (categorical) product metric on  $A^n$ . See [MPP16] and Section 9 for a detailed discussion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The terminology "generalised metric space" has already appeared in the literature (see, e.g., [BvBR98]) with a slightly different meaning. Our notion is more general, and subsumes that of [BvBR98]. See Remark [2.33] in Section [2.3].

Following and further developing ideas from a previous paper [MSV22], we extend [MPP16] along two orthogonal lines, by considering quantitative algebras  $((A, d_A), \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  where:

(1st line): the carrier  $(A, d_A)$  is an arbitrary fuzzy relation space [Zad71], that is, a set A together with an arbitrary map  $d_A : A^2 \to [0, 1]$ ,

(2nd line): the interpretations  $op^A$ , for  $op \in \Sigma$ , are arbitrary settheoretic functions, and not required to be nonexpansive.

Regarding the first line of extension, the choice of considering fuzzy relations  $d_A : A^2 \to [0, 1]$  allows us to have a concrete notion of numeric distance, while still being general enough to include, e.g., all the generalised metric spaces listed above. Regarding the second line of extension, allowing  $op^A$  to be an arbitrary set-theoretic function results in greater generality in the definition.

From a logical point of view, since we work with arbitrary fuzzy relations (for which the property  $x = y \Leftrightarrow d(x, y) = 0$  might not hold), we have to decouple the notion of equality from that of distance. As a result, our theory of quantitative algebras deals with two types of formal judgments: *equations* and *quantitative equations*, respectively of the form:

$$\forall (X, d_X).s = t \qquad \forall (X, d_X).s =_{\epsilon} t$$

where  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$  and  $s, t \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$  are terms built from a set of variables Xwhich is endowed with a fuzzy relation  $d_X : X^2 \to [0, 1]$ . We have followed the Universal Algebra textbook [Wec92] in using the " $\forall$ " symbol, in the formal judgments, to explicitly remind that the stated equality (equation) or bound on distance (quantitative equation) is universally quantified over all interpretations  $\tau : X \to A$  of the variables in X.

Crucially, as the set of variables is endowed with a fuzzy relation  $d_X$ , an interpretation is required to be a nonexpansive map of type  $\tau : (X, d_X) \rightarrow (A, d_A)$ . The idea of restricting attention to interpretations that "preserve structure" has already appeared in literature (e.g., in [AFMS21] in the study of ordered algebras) but appears to be new in the literature about quantitative algebras. This has important consequences. Consider for example the following "gap" property:

For all x, y, if the distance between x and y is  $\leq \frac{1}{2}$ , then the distance is  $\leq \frac{1}{4}$ .

In the seminal paper MPP16 and most subsequent works, to express the

above property one needs to consider Horn implications<sup>5</sup> between quantitative equations:

$$x = \frac{1}{2} y \Rightarrow x = \frac{1}{4} y$$

and indeed the syntactic deductive apparatus presented in [MPP16] is designed to manipulate Horn implications between quantitative equations, and not just quantitative equations. In our setting, instead, the "gap" property is directly expressed by the quantitative equation:

$$\forall (\{x,y\}, d_X) . x =_{\frac{1}{4}} y$$

where the fuzzy relation  $d_X$  on the set  $\{x, y\}$  of variables assigns value  $\frac{1}{2}$  to (x, y):

$$d_X(x,x) = 1, d_X(x,y) = \frac{1}{2}, d_X(y,x) = 1, d_X(y,x) = 1.$$

Requiring interpretations to be nonexpansive then corresponds precisely to requiring that the premise of the Horn implication is satisfied. As a consequence, we are able to work just with equations and quantitative equations, thus avoiding higher-level logical concepts such as Horn implications. This is a novelty with respect to both [MPP16] and [MSV22]. See Section [9] for a detailed comparison with [MPP16].

In this new setting, we can recover the framework of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin as a specific "quantitative equationally" defined subclass of quantitative algebras. For instance, we can now define, by means of equations and quantitative equations, the subclass of quantitative algebras whose  $d_A$  satisfy the constraints of a chosen generalised metric (including, e.g., the standard conditions of metrics, as in Footnote 2), in the same way that, in Universal Algebra, the subclass of abelian groups can be defined equationally from groups. At the same time, it is possible to define by means of equations and quantitative equations the subclass of quantitative algebras whose  $op^A$ is nonexpansive or, more generally, Lipschitz with constant  $\alpha > 1$ , or other useful notions.

The following is a list of our main results (Item 1–Item 5) concerning the generalised quantitative algebra theory presented in this work:

1. We present a sound and complete "Birkhoff-style" deductive system to derive valid equations and quantitative equations. The novelty of such proof system is that it only manipulates equations and quantitative equations, rather than Horn implications.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In MPP16 such implications are referred to as "quantitative inferences" and denoted by  $x = \frac{1}{2} y \vdash x = \frac{1}{4} y$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>We expand the discussion on the novelties of our system with full technical details in Section 9.

- 2. We show that, for any class of quantitative algebras defined by equations and quantitative equations, the free quantitative algebra generated by a fuzzy relation space  $(A, d_A)$  always exists in the class, and we give an explicit construction.
- 3. We prove that the adjunction induced by the free construction above is *strictly monadic*. Strict monadicity is a key property in the context of Universal Algebra, and the fact that it holds in our theory of quantitative algebras suggests that we have indeed identified an "equational" (in a categorical sense) quantitative setting.
- 4. We show that all monads on **FRel** which are liftings of finitary **Set** monads, i.e., **Set** monads with an equational presentation, can be presented by a given set of equations and quantitative equations. This includes most examples from the literature on quantitative algebras, e.g, the finite powerset monad with the Hausdorff metric and the probability distributions monad with the Kantorovich metric [MPP16], among others (see, e.g., [MV20], [MSV21], [MSV22]).
- 5. We prove that all the results above, stated for the category **FRel** of fuzzy relation spaces, can be restricted to any chosen category **GMet** of generalised metric spaces (including, for example, the familiar category **Met** of metric spaces).

### **1.2** Organisation of the Document

The rest of the document is organised as follows.

In Section 2 we provide the necessary technical background regarding Universal Algebra, Category Theory and some basic notions regarding fuzzy relations. This section is relatively lengthy as we have included all notions required to make this article self-contained.

In Section 3 we formally introduce our theory of quantitative algebras with all its key definitions: quantitative algebras, equations and quantitative equations, their semantics, quantitative theories, and so on. In Section 3.1 we enumerate our key results, which will be proved in the subsequent sections.

Our main results (Item 1–Item 5) are formally stated and proved in Sections Section 4, Section 5, Section 6, Section 7 and Section 8, respectively.

After having developed all our technical results, in Section 9 we give a formal comparison of our theory of quantitative algebras and the original one of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin MPP16.

Finally, we conclude in Section 10 suggesting possible lines of future work.

## 2 Technical Background

In this section we provide the mathematical background needed to formally state our results and to verify the proofs. In Section 2.1 we cover material from Universal Algebra. In Section 2.2 from Category theory. And in Section 2.3 we give the necessary definitions regarding fuzzy relations and generalised metric spaces.

### 2.1 Universal Algebra

We recall in this section some basic definitions of Universal Algebra. We refer the reader to [BS81] and [Wec92] as standard references, the latter is specifically intended for computer scientists.

A signature  $\Sigma$  is a (possibly infinite) set of function symbols  $op \in \Sigma$  each having a finite arity  $ar(op) \in \mathbb{N}$ . Operations of arity 0 are referred to as constants.

**Definition 2.1** ( $\Sigma$ -algebra). Given a signature  $\Sigma = \{op_i\}_{i \in I}$ , a  $\Sigma$ -algebra  $\mathbb{A}$  is a pair of the form  $\mathbb{A} = (A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$ , where:

- 1. A is a (possibly empty) set,
- 2.  $\{op^A\}_{op\in\Sigma}$  is a collection of interpretations of the operations containing, for each function symbol in  $\Sigma$ , a function of type:  $op^A : A^{ar(op)} \to A$ .

Remark 2.2. Some authors (see, e.g., the literature on universal algebra [BS81], [Wec92] referenced above) consider only algebras having nonempty carriers  $A \neq \emptyset$ . In contrast, in this paper we admit algebras with empty carriers, following standard references in category theory such as [Mac88]. While there is no substantial difference between such approaches, the latter is more general and it allows us to state results in a more uniform way. For example, by including the algebra with empty carrier we have that all categories of algebras have an initial object (i.e., the free object generated by  $\emptyset$ , see Definition [2.18].

**Definition 2.3** (Homomorphism). Given two  $\Sigma$ -algebras  $(A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  and  $(B, \{op^B\}_{op \in \Sigma})$ , a function  $f : A \to B$  is a homomorphism if:

$$f(op^A(a_1,\ldots,a_n)) = op^B(f(a_1),\ldots,f(a_n))$$

for all  $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$  and *n*-ary  $op \in \Sigma$ .

We denote with  $\mathbf{Alg}(\Sigma)$  the collection (a proper class) of all  $\Sigma$ -algebras.

**Definition 2.4** (Terms over  $\Sigma$ ). Given a signature  $\Sigma$  and a set A, we denote with Terms<sub> $\Sigma$ </sub>(A) the collection of all  $\Sigma$ -terms built from A, i.e., the set inductively defined as follows:

 $a \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$   $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \Longrightarrow op(t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ 

for all  $a \in A$  and *n*-ary  $op \in \Sigma$ .

The following definition follows the notational approach of [Wec92], denoting equations by " $\forall A.s = t$ ", where " $\forall A$ ." explicitly indicates the set A of variables involved.

**Definition 2.5** (Equations). Given a signature  $\Sigma$ , a  $\Sigma$ -equation is a triple (A, s, t) where A is a set and  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ . We write such triple as:

 $\forall A.s = t$ 

and we denote with  $Eq(\Sigma)$  the class of all  $\Sigma$ -equations.

In the rest of the paper, the signature  $\Sigma$  will often be clear from the context and we will just talk about "equations" rather than  $\Sigma$ -equations. We use the letters  $\phi, \psi$  to range over equations, and  $\Phi, \Psi$  to range over classes of equations.

**Definition 2.6** (Interpretation). Given a  $\Sigma$ -algebra  $\mathbb{A} = (A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  and a set B, an *interpretation of* B *in*  $\mathbb{A}$  is a function  $\tau : B \to A$ . The interpretation  $\tau$  extends to a function of type  $[\![-]\!]_{\tau}^A$  : Terms<sub> $\Sigma$ </sub> $(B) \to A$  defined inductively as:

$$\llbracket b \rrbracket_{\tau}^{A} = \tau(b) \qquad \llbracket op(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{A} = op^{A}(\llbracket t_{1} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{A}, \dots, \llbracket t_{n} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{A}).$$

The following definition gives semantics to equations and motivates the " $\forall$ (\_)." syntactical notation we adopted, which hints at the universal quantification over interpretations of the variables.

**Definition 2.7** (Semantics of Equations). Given a  $\Sigma$ -algebra  $\mathbb{A}$  and an equation  $\phi$  of the form  $\forall B.s = t$ , we say that  $\mathbb{A}$  satisfies  $\phi$  (written  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi$ ) if, for all interpretations  $\tau : B \to A$ , it holds that  $[\![s]\!]^A_{\tau} = [\![t]\!]^A_{\tau}$ .

**Definition 2.8** (Equational Theory of a Class of Models). Let  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \operatorname{Alg}(\Sigma)$  be a class of  $\Sigma$ -algebras. The *equational theory of*  $\mathcal{K}$  is defined as the class of equations satisfied by all  $\Sigma$ -algebras in  $\mathcal{K}$ , formally:

$$\mathbf{Th}_{\Sigma}(\mathcal{K}) = \{ \phi \in \mathrm{Eq}(\Sigma) \mid \forall \mathbb{A} \in \mathcal{K}, \mathbb{A} \models \phi \}.$$

**Definition 2.9** (Models and Equationally defined classes). Let  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  be a class of  $\Sigma$ -equations. The *models* of  $\Phi$  are the  $\Sigma$ -algebras that satisfy all equations in  $\Phi$ , formally:

$$\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) = \{ \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{Alg}(\Sigma) \mid \forall \phi \in \Phi, \mathbb{A} \models \phi \}$$

A class  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \operatorname{Alg}(\Sigma)$  of  $\Sigma$ -algebras is said to be *equationally defined by*  $\Phi$  if  $\mathcal{K} = \operatorname{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

**Definition 2.10** (Model Theoretic Entailment Relation). We define a binary relation  $[7] \Vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\operatorname{Eq}(\Sigma)) \times \operatorname{Eq}(\Sigma)$  that describes how an equation  $\phi$  can be a consequence of a class of equations  $\Phi \subseteq \operatorname{Eq}(\Sigma)$ . It is defined by

 $\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \phi \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \phi \in \mathbf{Th}_{\Sigma}(\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)).$ 

Therefore, the meaning of  $\Phi \parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \phi$  is that any  $\Sigma$ -algebra that satisfies  $\Phi$  (i.e., all the equations in  $\Phi$ ) necessarily also satisfies the equation  $\phi$ .

A fundamental result of Birkhoff establishes that  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{Set}}$  coincides with the derivability relation  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \phi$  of the deductive system of "equational logic" (the relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{Set}}$  is inductively defined, see, e.g., [Wec92], §3.2.4, Definition 8]). Thus, this celebrated result is a logical axiomatisation of the entailment relation  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{Set}}$ .

## 2.2 Category Theory

We assume basic knowledge of category theory. In this section we recall only some main definitions and results used in the rest of the paper. We refer to Mac88 and Awo10 as standard references.

For a given signature  $\Sigma$ , with some abuse of notation, we denote with  $\operatorname{Alg}(\Sigma)$  both the class of  $\Sigma$ -algebras and the category having as objects  $\Sigma$ -algebras and as arrows the homomorphisms of  $\Sigma$ -algebras. Similarly,  $\operatorname{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  denotes both the class of  $\Sigma$ -algebras satisfying  $\Phi$  and the full subcategory of  $\operatorname{Alg}(\Sigma)$  whose objects are in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ . In other words,  $\operatorname{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  is the category having as objects  $\Sigma$ -algebras  $\mathbb{A}$  such that  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi$ , for all  $\phi \in \Phi$ , and as morphisms all their homomorphisms of  $\Sigma$ -algebras.

There is a forgetful functor:

$$U_{\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{Set}} : \mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{Set}$$

 $<sup>{}^{7}\</sup>mathcal{P}(\text{Eq}(\Sigma))$  denotes the collection of all classes of  $\Sigma$ -equations, i.e. all subclasses of Eq( $\Sigma$ ). Therefore, it is a conglomerate in the sense of [AHS06], 2.3], and so is  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{Set}}$ .

mapping an algebra in  $\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  to its carrier, and acting as identity on morphisms:

$$U_{\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)\to\mathbf{Set}}(A, \{op^{A}\}_{op\in\Sigma}) = A$$
$$U_{\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)\to\mathbf{Set}}(f) = f$$

We often just write U when no confusion arises.

#### 2.2.1 Monads and Adjunctions

**Definition 2.11** (Monad). Given a category  $\mathcal{C}$ , a monad on  $\mathcal{C}$  is a triple  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  composed of a functor  $M: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$  together with two natural transformations: a unit  $\eta: \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{C}} \Rightarrow M$ , where  $\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{C}}$  is the identity functor on  $\mathcal{C}$ , and a multiplication  $\mu: M^2 \Rightarrow M$ , satisfying  $\mu \circ \eta_M = \mu \circ M\eta = \operatorname{id}_M$  and  $\mu \circ M\mu = \mu \circ \mu_M$ .

We often denote a monad  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  simply with its underlying functor M. *Example* 2.12. For any class  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  of  $\Sigma$ -equations, we have an associated monad  $(T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\text{Set}}, \eta, \mu)$  on **Set**, defined as follows:

• The functor  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}$  maps a set A to the set  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/\equiv$  of terms over A quotiented by the relation  $\equiv$  defined as follows, for all  $s, t \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ :

$$s \equiv t \iff \Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \forall A.s = t$$

and maps a function  $f: A \to B$  to the homomorphism

$$T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}(f): \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv} \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)/_{\equiv}$$

 $specified^{8}$  as follows:

$$T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}(f)([a]_{\equiv}) = [f(a)]_{\equiv}$$

$$T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}(f)([op(t_1,...,t_n)]_{\equiv}) = op^{F(A)}(T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}(f)([t_1]_{\equiv}),...,T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}(f)([t_n]_{\equiv}))$$

where  $op^{F(A)}$  is defined as  $op^{F(A)}([t_1]_{\equiv}, ..., [t_n]_{\equiv}) = [op(t_1, ..., t_n)]_{\equiv}$  (the reason why we denote the interpretation of operations by  $op^{F(A)}$  will become clear in Example 2.19).

• For each set A, the unit  $\eta_A : A \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$  is defined as:

$$a \mapsto [a]_{\equiv}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>It can be verified that this is a good definition, i.e., it does not depend on the choice of representatives for the equivalence classes.

• For each set A, the multiplication

 $\mu_A : \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv})/_{\equiv} \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$ 

is defined by the following "flattening" operation:

$$[s([t_1]_{\equiv},\ldots,[t_n]_{\equiv})]_{\equiv} \mapsto [s\{t_1/[t_1]_{\equiv},\ldots,t_n/[t_n]_{\equiv}\}]_{\equiv}$$

where  $s([t_1]_{\equiv}, \ldots, [t_n]_{\equiv})$  denotes that  $[t_1]_{\equiv}, \ldots, [t_n]_{\equiv}$  are all and only the elements of  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$  appearing in the term s, and the term  $s\{t_1/[t_1]_{\equiv}, \ldots, t_n/[t_n]_{\equiv}\}$  denotes the simultaneous substitution in s of each of these equivalence classes with one representative.

It can be shown that, indeed, the above definitions do not depend on specific choices of representatives of the  $\equiv$ -equivalence classes.

A monad M has an associated category of M-algebras.

**Definition 2.13** (Eilenberg–Moore algebras for a monad). Let  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  be a monad on  $\mathcal{C}$ . An algebra for M (or M-algebra) is a pair  $(A, \alpha)$  where  $A \in \mathcal{C}$ is an object and  $\alpha : M(A) \to A$  is a morphism such that (1)  $\alpha \circ \eta_A = \mathrm{id}_A$  and (2)  $\alpha \circ M\alpha = \alpha \circ \mu_A$  hold. An M-algebra morphism between two M-algebras  $(A, \alpha)$  and  $(A', \alpha')$  is a morphism  $f : A \to A'$  in  $\mathcal{C}$  such that  $f \circ \alpha = \alpha' \circ M(f)$ . The category of M-algebras and their morphisms, denoted by  $\mathbf{EM}(M)$ , is called the Eilenberg–Moore category for M. There is a forgetful functor  $\mathbf{EM}(M) \to \mathcal{C}$  that forgets the algebra structures.

**Definition 2.14** (Monad morphisms). Let  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  and  $(M', \eta', \mu')$  be two monads on  $\mathcal{C}$ . A monad morphism from M to M' is a natural transformation  $\lambda : M \Rightarrow M'$  such that (1)  $\lambda \circ \eta^M = \eta^{M'}$  and (2)  $\lambda \circ \mu^M = \mu^{M'} \circ \lambda M' \circ M \lambda$ . It is a monad isomorphism whenever each component  $\lambda_X : MX \to M'X$  is an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{C}$ .

The following result is well known, e.g., it is a simple corollary of <u>BW05</u>, Theorem 6.3].

**Proposition 2.15.** Let  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  and  $(M', \eta', \mu')$  be two monads on a category C. There is a monad isomorphism  $M \cong M'$  if and only if there is an isomorphism of categories  $\mathbf{EM}(M) \cong \mathbf{EM}(M')$  that commutes with the forgetful functors to C.

Monads can be defined as arising from adjunctions.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See, e.g., <u>Awo10</u>, Chapter 9] for several equivalent definitions.

**Definition 2.16** (Adjunction). Let  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}, F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$  be functors. F is a left adjoint of U (notation:  $F \dashv U$ ) if there is a natural transformation  $\eta : \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{C}} \Rightarrow U \circ F$  such that for any  $\mathcal{C}$ -object X, any  $\mathcal{D}$ -object Y and  $\mathcal{C}$ -morphism  $f : X \to U(Y)$  there is an unique  $\mathcal{D}$ -morphism  $g : F(X) \to Y$  such that  $f = U(g) \circ \eta_X$ . Diagrammatically:



The natural transformation  $\eta$  is called the unit of the adjunction. Given an adjunction  $F \dashv U$ , we also have a natural transformation  $\varepsilon : F \circ U \Rightarrow \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{D}}$ , which is called the counit of the adjunction and which satisfies the following identities:<sup>10</sup>

 $U\varepsilon \circ \eta_U = \mathrm{id}_U \qquad \varepsilon_F \circ F\eta = \mathrm{id}_F.$ 

**Proposition 2.17.** [Awo10, Proposition 10.3] Every adjunction  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D} \dashv U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  defines a monad  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  where:

- *M* is the functor  $U \circ F$
- the unit  $\eta : id_{\mathcal{C}} \Rightarrow M$  of the monad is the unit of the adjunction
- the multiplication  $\mu: M^2 \Rightarrow M$  is given by

$$\mu_X = U(\varepsilon_{F(X)})$$

where  $\varepsilon: F \circ U \to \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{D}}$  is the counit of the adjunction.

As we discuss in the following section, the monad of quotiented terms from Example 2.12 arises from the adjunction between the forgetful functor U:  $\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \rightarrow \mathbf{Set}$  and the functor mapping sets to free objects in  $\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

### 2.2.2 Free Objects

**Definition 2.18** (Free object). Let  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  be a functor,  $X \in \mathcal{C}, Y \in \mathcal{D}$ and  $\alpha : X \to U(Y)$ . We say that Y is a U-free object generated by X with respect to  $\alpha$  if the following **UMP** (Universal Mapping Property) holds: for

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ See, e.g., Awo10, Proposition 10.1].

every  $B \in \mathcal{D}$  and every  $\mathcal{C}$ -morphism  $f : X \to U(B)$ , there exists a unique  $\mathcal{D}$ -morphism  $g : Y \to B$  such that  $f = U(g) \circ \alpha$ , as indicated in the following diagram.



We say that the category  $\mathcal{D}$  has U-free objects if for every  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  there exist:

- 1. an object  $D_X \in \mathcal{D}$ , and
- 2. a function  $\alpha_X : X \to U(D_X)$

such that  $D_X$  is a U-free object generated by X with respect to  $\alpha_X$ .

If the functor U and the map  $\alpha_X$  are clear from the context, we just refer to "the free object in  $\mathcal{D}$  generated by X" instead of "U-free object generated by X with respect to  $\alpha_X$ ".

Free objects, when they exist, are unique up to isomorphism.

Example 2.19. It is a standard result in universal algebra that the forgetful functor  $U : \operatorname{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \operatorname{Set}$  has U-free objects. Concretely, for any set A, take the algebra  $F(A) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \{op^{F(A)}\}_{op\in\Sigma})$ , where  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$  and  $op^{F(A)}$  are defined as in Example 2.12. Then F(A) is the U-free object generated by A with respect to the function  $\alpha : A \to F(A)$  that sends every  $a \in A$  to  $\alpha(a) = [a]_{\equiv}$ .

The following proposition states that if  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  is a functor such that  $\mathcal{D}$  has U-free objects, then there is a functor F, called the free functor, which assigns to objects of  $\mathcal{C}$  the U-free object they generate, and which gives an adjunction  $F \dashv U$ .

**Proposition 2.20.** [Mac88, §IV.1, Theorem 2.(ii)] Let  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  be a functor such that free U-objects exist in  $\mathcal{D}$ , i.e., such that for every  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  there exist an object  $D_X \in \mathcal{D}$  and a function  $\alpha_X : X \to U(D_X)$  such that  $D_X$  is the U-free object generated by X with respect to  $\alpha_X$ . Then  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  has a left adjoint  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ 

 $F \dashv U$ 

with F the functor mapping an object X to the U-free object  $D_X$  and mapping a morphism  $f: X \to Y$  to the unique  $\mathcal{D}$ -morphism  $F(f): F(X) \to F(Y)$  that makes the following diagram commute:

From this adjunction, we can then build the monad of U-free objects, as explained in Proposition 2.17.

Example 2.21. In Example 2.19 we have identified U-free objects, for U:  $\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{Set}$ . As explained in Proposition 2.20, we can then define a functor F such that we obtain an adjunction  $F \dashv U$ . By Proposition 2.17, we have a monad with underlying functor  $U \circ F$ , which is exactly the monad of quotiented terms  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}$  from Example 2.12.

### 2.2.3 Strict Monadicity

**Proposition 2.22** (Existence of the comparison functor). Let  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D} \dashv U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  be an adjunction, and let UF be the induced monad. Then there exists a functor

$$K: \mathcal{D} \to \mathbf{EM}(UF)$$

called the (canonical) comparison functor.<sup>11</sup>

There are interesting cases in which this comparison functor is an isomorphism. In such cases, we say that the functor is strictly monadic.

**Definition 2.23** (Strictly Monadic Adjunction, Strictly Monadic Functor). Let  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D} \dashv U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  be an adjunction. We say that the adjunction is *strictly monadic* if the comparison functor is an isomorphism. Given a functor  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ , we say that U is strictly monadic if it has a left adjoint F such that the adjunction is strictly monadic.

The next theorem, due to Beck, gives useful equivalent characterisations of strict monadicity relying on coequalizers.

**Definition 2.24** (Coequalizer). Let A, B be two objects and  $f, g : A \to B$  be two morphisms in C. A coequalizer of f and g is a morphism  $e : B \to C$  satisfying  $e \circ f = e \circ g$  with the following universal property: for any other morphism  $o : B \to O$  satisfying  $o \circ f = o \circ g$ , there is a unique morphism  $! : D \to O$  such that  $! \circ e = o$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>See, e.g., Mac88 §VI.3, Theorem 1] for the construction of the comparison functor.

**Proposition 2.25.** [Beck's monadicity theorem]

Let  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D} \dashv U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  be an adjunction. The following are equivalent:

- 1. U is strictly monadic
- 2.  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  strictly creates coequalizers for all  $\mathcal{D}$ -arrows f, g such that U(f), U(g) has an absolute coequalizer (in  $\mathcal{C}$ ).
- 3.  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  strictly creates coequalizers for all  $\mathcal{D}$ -arrows f, g such that U(f), U(g) has a split coequalizer (in  $\mathcal{C}$ ).

where:

- an absolute coequalizer (in C) of C-arrows  $f, g : A \to B$  is a C-arrow  $e : B \to C$  such that for all functors F, F(e) is a coequalizer of F(f), F(g).
- a split coequalizer (in C) of C-arrows  $f, g : A \to B$  is a C-arrow  $e : B \to C$  such that  $e \circ f = e \circ g$  and such that there exist arrows  $s : C \to B$ and  $t : B \to A$  such that  $e \circ s = id_C$ ,  $f \circ t = id_B$  and  $g \circ t = s \circ e$ .
- $U: \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  strictly creates coequalizers for the  $\mathcal{D}$ -arrows f, g if for any coequalizer  $e: U(B) \to C$  of U(f), U(g) (in  $\mathcal{C}$ ), there are unique D and  $u: B \to D$  (in  $\mathcal{D}$ ) such that U(D) = C, U(u) = e and u is a coequalizer of f, g.

For a proof of Proposition 2.25, see, e.g., Mac88, §VI.7, Theorem 1].<sup>12</sup>

The following result is well known and its proof, which indeed relies on the characterisations of strict monadicity given by Beck's theorem (Proposition 2.25), can be found in Mac88, §VI.8, Theorem 1].

**Proposition 2.26.** For any signature  $\Sigma$  and class  $\Phi$  of equations over  $\Sigma$ , the functor  $U : \operatorname{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \operatorname{Set}$  is strictly monadic.

As recalled in Example 2.21, the monad  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}$  arises from the adjunction  $F \dashv U$ , where  $U : \mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{Set}$  and F is the functor mapping sets to U-free objects. Hence, Proposition 2.26 allows us to conclude that the category  $\mathbf{EM}(T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}})$  of Eilenberg-Moore algebras for  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}$  is isomorphic to the category  $\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  of models of  $\Phi$ .

**Definition 2.27** (Set presentation). A presentation of a monad  $(M, \eta, \mu)$ on Set is a class of equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  along with a monad isomorphism  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\text{Set}} \cong M$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Our Definition 2.23 of *strict monadicity* coincides with that used in Mac88, p. 143], where however it is just called *monadicity*. We chose to use the adjective *strict* as it has become standard terminology in recent literature, where *monadicity* has a different meaning (see e.g. Rie17, p. 167]).

Thanks to Proposition 2.15 and Proposition 2.26, when a monad Mon **Set** is presented by  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$ , there is an isomorphism  $\mathbf{EM}(M) \cong \mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ , hence, we can view M-algebras as the models of  $\Phi$ .

### 2.3 Fuzzy Relations and Generalised Metric Spaces

We define here fuzzy relation spaces, which are sets equipped with a [0, 1]-valued function (see, e.g., Zad71).

**Definition 2.28.** A fuzzy relation on a set A is a map  $d : A \times A \to [0, 1]$ . The pair  $(A, d_A)$  is called a fuzzy relation space (often, we directly call  $(A, d_A)$  a fuzzy relation as well). A morphism between two fuzzy relation spaces  $(A, d_A)$  and  $(B, d_B)$  is a map  $f : A \to B$  which is nonexpansive, namely,

$$\forall a, a' \in A, d_B(f(a), f(a')) \le d_A(a, a').$$

We denote by **FRel** the category of fuzzy relation spaces and nonexpansive maps.

Note that **FRel** has the empty fuzzy relation space  $(\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$  as initial object, where  $d_{\emptyset} : \emptyset \times \emptyset \to [0, 1]$  is the only map of this type (as  $\emptyset \times \emptyset \cong \emptyset$  is initial in **Set**).

We denote with  $U_{\mathbf{FRel}\to\mathbf{Set}}$ :  $\mathbf{FRel}\to\mathbf{Set}$  the forgetful functor defined as expected, and with U when no confusion arises.

We denote with  $D_{\mathbf{Set}\to\mathbf{FRel}}$ :  $\mathbf{Set}\to\mathbf{FRel}$  (or just with D if clear from the context) the *discrete functor* mapping a set  $A \in \mathbf{Set}$  to the discrete fuzzy relation  $(A, d_1^A)$  defined as:

$$\forall a, a' \in A, \quad d^A_\perp(a, a') = 1$$

and acting as identity on morphisms  $f : A \to B \in \mathbf{Set}$ . We indeed note that  $D(f) : (A, d_{\perp}^A) \to (B, d_{\perp}^B)$  is always nonexpansive, given the definition of  $d_{\perp}^A$ .

**Proposition 2.29.** The functor D is left adjoint to U, that is,  $D \dashv U$ .

We will also be interested in full subcategories of **FRel** obtained by restricting to fuzzy relations that satisfy certain constraints, expressed by means of universally quantified logical implications (Horn formulas) in the language of first-order logic.

**Definition 2.30** ( $\mathscr{L}$ -implications). Let  $\mathscr{L}$  be the language of first-order logic with the equality binary predicate (\_ = \_) and with, for each  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ ,

the binary predicate  $(d(\_,\_) \leq \epsilon)$ . We call  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications all closed formulas H of this language that have the following shape:

$$H = \forall x_1, \dots, x_n, \left( \left( \bigwedge_{1 \le i \le k} G_i \right) \Rightarrow F \right)$$

where the subformulas  $G_i$  and F are atomic, i.e.,  $G_i$  and F are either of the form (x = x') or  $(d(x, x') \le \epsilon)$ , for some  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$  and for  $x, x' \in \{x_1, ..., x_n\}$ .

Such formulas are interpreted on fuzzy relations  $(A, d_A)$  as in standard first-order logic, with equality  $(\_ = \_)$  being the identity relation on A, and the binary predicate  $d(\_, \_) \leq \epsilon$  holding true whenever  $d_A$  assigns distance less than or equal to  $\epsilon$ .

**Definition 2.31** (Semantics of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications). Given a fuzzy relation  $(A, d_A)$  and an  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication H of the form described in Definition 2.30, we say that  $(A, d_A)$  satisfies H (notation:  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$ ) if for all functions  $\iota : \{x_1, ..., x_n\} \to A$ ,

if 
$$(A, d_A) \models_{\iota}^{\mathscr{L}} G_i$$
 for all  $1 \le i \le k$ , then  $(A, d_A) \models_{\iota}^{\mathscr{L}} F$ 

where  $(A, d_A) \models_{\iota}^{\mathscr{L}} x = x'$  holds if  $\iota(x) = \iota(x')$ , and  $(A, d_A) \models_{\iota}^{\mathscr{L}} d(x, x') \leq \epsilon$ holds if  $d_A(\iota(x), \iota(x')) \leq \epsilon$ .

Given a (possibly infinite) set  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications, we say that  $(A, d_A)$  satisfies  $\mathcal{H}$ , written  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H}$ , if for all  $H \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $(A, d_A)$  satisfies H.

Consider, for example, the following useful  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications H:

$$\forall x, \qquad \qquad x = x \implies d(x, x) \le 0 \tag{1}$$

$$\forall x, y, \qquad \qquad d(x, y) \le 0 \implies x = y \tag{2}$$

$$\forall x, y, \qquad \qquad d(x, y) \le \epsilon \implies d(y, x) \le \epsilon \tag{3}$$

$$\forall x, y, z, \qquad d(x, y) \le \epsilon \land d(y, z) \le \delta \implies d(x, z) \le \gamma \quad (\text{where } \gamma = \epsilon + \delta)$$
(4)

and the set  $\mathcal{H}_{Met}$  consisting of all instances (for all values of  $\epsilon$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\gamma = \epsilon + \delta$ ) of these  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications:

$$\mathcal{H}_{Met} = \{Equation (1), Equation (2), Equation (3), Equation (4)\}$$

It is easy to see that  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{Met}}$  if and only if the fuzzy relation  $d_A$  is a metric. Indeed (1) expresses that each point is at distance zero from itself, (2) states that points at distance zero must be equal, (3) expresses

symmetry  $(d_A(a, b) = d_A(b, a))$  of the fuzzy relation and (4) expresses the triangular inequality property. Similarly, the subset:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{PseudoMet}} = \{ Equation (1), Equation (3), Equation (4) \}$$

is satisfied exactly by the fuzzy relations  $(A, d_A)$  such that  $d_A$  is a pseudometric [BvBR98]. In the literature, many other generalisations of metrics are defined as fuzzy relations satisfying a list of axioms expressible with  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications. Important examples include: quasimetrics [Wil31a], ultrametrics [BvBR98], semimetrics [Wil31b], dislocated metrics [HS00] also called diffuse metrics in [CKPR21], rectangular metrics [Bra00] and *b*-metrics [Cze93].

**Definition 2.32 (GMet** categories). Given a collection  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications, we denote with  $\mathbf{GMet}_{\mathcal{H}}$  (or just  $\mathbf{GMet}$  if  $\mathcal{H}$  is clear from the context or abstracted away) the full subcategory of **FRel** whose objects are fuzzy relations  $(A, d_A)$  such that  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H}$  and whose morphisms are all the nonexpansive maps between them. We call objects of **GMet** generalised metric spaces.

Note that, in accordance with the above definition, we have that  $\mathbf{FRel} = \mathbf{GMet}_{\emptyset}$ , i.e.,  $\mathbf{FRel}$  is the special case of  $\mathcal{H}$  being empty. Given its importance, we reserve the symbol **Met** for the category of metric spaces and nonexpansive maps, i.e.,  $\mathbf{Met} = \mathbf{GMet}_{\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{Met}}}$ .

Given any **GMet** category, we denote with  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}\to\mathbf{Set}}$ : **GMet**  $\to$  **Set** the forgetful functor defined as the restriction of  $U_{\mathbf{FRel}\to\mathbf{Set}}$  to **GMet**, which we simply denote by U when no confusion arises.

*Remark* 2.33. The terminology "generalised metric space" has appeared in the literature with different meanings. For instance, in [BvBR98], generalised metric spaces are fuzzy relations satisfying reflexivity (1) and triangular inequality (4). Our definition is thereby a further generalisation, which also covers as special cases the spaces considered in [BvBR98].

## 3 Presentation of the Framework and Results

In this section we present our framework of Universal Quantitative Algebra. We will introduce it following the same pattern as in the background Section 2.1 on Universal Algebra. We begin with the central notion of this section, the concept of quantitative algebra.

**Definition 3.1** (Quantitative Algebra). Given a signature  $\Sigma$ , an **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra  $\mathbb{A}$ , or just a quantitative algebra for short, is a triple  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  where:

•  $(A, d_A)$  is an **FRel** space, i.e., A is a set and

$$d_A: A^2 \to [0,1]$$

is an arbitrary map,

•  $(A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  is a  $\Sigma$ -algebra, i.e.,

$$op^A: A^{ar(op)} \to A$$

is an interpretation of all the operation symbols in  $\Sigma$ .

Remark 3.2. Note that, in contrast with the definition in [MPP16] (and with much subsequent literature [BMPP21], MV20, [MPP17], [MPP21]), under our definition the distance  $d_A$  is not required to satisfy the axioms of metric spaces, as it can be an arbitrary fuzzy relation, and the interpretations  $op^A$  of the operations in  $\Sigma$  are not required to be nonexpansive and can be arbitrary set-theoretical functions. See Section 9 for a more detailed comparison.

**Definition 3.3** (Homomorphisms). Given a signature  $\Sigma$  and quantitative algebras  $\mathbb{A}$  and  $\mathbb{B}$ ,

$$\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma}) \quad \mathbb{B} = (B, d_B, \{op^B\}_{op \in \Sigma})$$

a homomorphism (of quantitative algebras) is a function  $f : A \to B$  such that:

•  $f: (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  is nonexpansive, i.e.,

$$d_B(f(a_1), f(a_2)) \le d_A(a_1, a_2)$$

for all  $a_1, a_2 \in A$ , and

• f is a homomorphism between the  $\Sigma$ -algebras  $\mathbb{A} = (A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  and  $\mathbb{B} = (B, \{op^B\}_{op \in \Sigma})$ , i.e.,

$$f(op^A(a_1,\ldots,a_n)) = op^B(f(a_1),\ldots,f(a_n))$$

for all  $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$  and  $op \in \Sigma$ .

We denote with  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$ , or often just  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ , the category of **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras and their homomorphisms.

We denote with  $U_{\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{FRel}}$  and  $U_{\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{Alg}(\Sigma)}$  the forgetful functors defined as expected, which make the following diagram (where, without ambiguity, we denote all functors involved just by U) commute:



**Definition 3.4** (Equations and quantitative equations). An FRel  $\Sigma$ -equation, or just an equation for short, is a judgment of the form:

$$\forall (A, d_A) . s = t$$

where  $(A, d_A)$  is an **FRel** space and  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ . An **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equation, or just a quantitative equation for short, is a judgment of the form:

$$\forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t$$

where  $(A, d_A)$  is an **FRel** space,  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  and  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ .

We use the letters  $\phi, \psi$  to range over equations and quantitative equations, and we denote with  $\text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , the proper class of all **FRel**  $\Sigma$ -equations and quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equations.

**Definition 3.5** (Interpretations). Given an **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  and an **FRel** space  $(B, d_B)$ , an *interpretation* of  $(B, d_B)$  in  $\mathbb{A}$  is a nonexpansive function  $\tau : (B, d_B) \to (A, d_A)$ . The interpretation  $\tau$  extends uniquely to a (set-theoretic) function of type  $\llbracket_{-} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{A}$ : Terms<sub> $\Sigma$ </sub> $(B) \to A$  specified as in Definition 2.6.

In accordance with the above definition, all interpretations of quantitative algebras are nonexpansive. While this prevents any confusion, we will sometimes stress the fact that the interpretations are nonexpansive as this is often crucial in some statements and proofs.

**Definition 3.6** (Semantics of Equations and Quantitative Equations). Let  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\})$  be an **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra. Let  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  be the following **FRel**  $\Sigma$ -equation and quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equation, respectively:

$$\phi_1 = \forall (B, d_B) . s = t \qquad \phi_2 = \forall (B, d_B) . s =_{\epsilon} t.$$

We say that  $\mathbb{A}$  satisfies  $\phi_1$ , written  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_1$ , if for all nonexpansive interpretations  $\tau : (B, d_B) \to (A, d_A)$  of  $(B, d_B)$  in  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $[\![s]\!]_{\tau}^A = [\![t]\!]_{\tau}^A$  holds. Similarly, we say that  $\mathbb{A}$  satisfies  $\phi_2$ , written  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_2$ , if for all nonexpansive interpretations  $\tau : (B, d_B) \to (A, d_A)$  of  $(B, d_B)$  in  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $d_A([\![s]\!]_{\tau}^A, [\![t]\!]_{\tau}^A) \leq \epsilon$  holds. **Definition 3.7** (Quantitative Equational Theory of a Class of Models). Let  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$  be a class of **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras. The quantitative equational theory of  $\mathcal{K}$  is defined as the class of **FRel**  $\Sigma$ -equations and quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equations satisfied by all quantitative algebras in  $\mathcal{K}$ , formally:

$$\mathbf{QTh}_{\Sigma}(\mathcal{K}) = \{ \phi \in \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma) \mid \forall \mathbb{A} \in \mathcal{K}. \ \mathbb{A} \models \phi \}.$$

**Definition 3.8** (Models and Quantitative Equationally Defined Classes). Let  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  be a class of **FRel**  $\Sigma$ -equations and quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equations. The *models* of  $\Phi$  are the quantitative algebras that satisfy all equations and quantitative equations in  $\Phi$ , formally:

$$\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) = \{ \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) \mid \forall \phi \in \Phi. \ \mathbb{A} \models \phi \}.$$

A class  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$  of quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras is said to be a quantitative equationally defined by  $\Phi$  if  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

Note that, accordingly,  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) = \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\emptyset)$ . With some abuse of notation, we also denote with  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  the full subcategory of  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$  whose objects are in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ . In other words,  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  is the category having as objects quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras  $\mathbb{A}$  such that  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi$ , for all  $\phi \in \Phi$ , and as morphisms all their homomorphisms of quantitative algebras.

We denote with  $U_{\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)\to\mathbf{FRel}}$  the forgetful functor defined as the restriction of  $U_{\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)\to\mathbf{FRel}}$ . As usual, this is most often just denoted by U when no confusion arises.

**Definition 3.9** (Model Theoretic Entailment Relation). Let  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  be a class of **FRel**  $\Sigma$ -equations and quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equations. We define a binary (consequence) relation<sup>13</sup>  $\parallel \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\text{QEq}(\Sigma)) \times \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  (or just  $\parallel \vdash$  for short) as follows:

$$\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \phi \in \mathbf{QTh}_{\Sigma}(\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)).$$

Thus, the meaning of  $\Phi \parallel_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  is that any **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra that satisfies  $\Phi$  (i.e., all the **FRel** equations and quantitative equations in  $\Phi$ ) necessarily also satisfies  $\phi$ .

We can summarize the introduced notions, in relation with the corresponding ones from Universal Algebra, as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>As in Definition 2.10, both  $\mathcal{P}(\text{QEq}(\Sigma))$  and  $\Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  are collections of classes, i.e. conglomerates in the sense of  $[\mathbf{AHS06}]$  2.3].

Universal Algebra	Universal Quantitative Algebra
$ \Sigma -algebra (A, {op^A}_{op \in \Sigma}) $	Quantitative $\Sigma$ -algebra $(A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$
Homomorphism of $\Sigma$ -algebras	(Nonexpansive) homomorphism of quantitative $\Sigma$ -algebras
Category $\mathbf{Alg}(\Sigma)$ of $\Sigma$ -algebras	Category $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ of quantitative $\Sigma$ -algebras
$\Sigma$ -equation $\forall A.s = t$	$\begin{array}{l} \Sigma \text{-equation } \forall (A, d_A) . s = t \text{ and} \\ \text{quantitative } \Sigma \text{-equation } \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t \end{array}$
Interpretation of $\Sigma$ -equations	(Nonexpansive) interpretation of $\Sigma$ -equations and of quantitative $\Sigma$ -equations
Category $\mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ of models of $\Phi \subseteq \mathrm{Eq}(\Sigma)$	Category $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ of models of $\Phi \subseteq \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$
Equational theory $\mathbf{Th}_{\Sigma}(\mathcal{K})$	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Equationally defined class of $\Sigma$ -algebras $\mathcal{K} = \mathbf{Mod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$	Quantitative equationally defined class of quantitative $\Sigma$ -algebras $\mathcal{K} = \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$
Entailment relation $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{Set}}$	Entailment relation $\Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$

## 3.1 Summary of Contributions

We now give an overview of the main results that we will prove in the following sections.

(I) The entailment relation  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  can be axiomatised by means of a deductive system analogous to the deductive system of Birkhoff's equational logic. More formally, there is an inductively defined relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)) \times \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , specified as the smallest relation containing a given set of pairs and closed under a given set of deductive rules (see Section 4 for details), which is sound and complete with respect to  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$ , i.e., for all  $\Phi \subseteq \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$  and  $\phi \in \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$ ,

 $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi \Longleftrightarrow \Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi.$ 

The soundness of the deductive system (i.e., the implication  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi \Rightarrow \Phi \parallel_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$ ) is proved in Section 4. The completeness (i.e., the

implication  $\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi \Rightarrow \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  is proved in Section 5.4, as a consequence of our second result (Item II) below.

We recall, from the introduction, that our deductive system  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  has significant differences with the one presented in the seminal paper [MPP16]. A detailed discussion is available in Section 9.

(II) For every signature  $\Sigma$  and collection  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  of  $\Sigma$ -equations and quantitative  $\Sigma$ -equations, the category  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  has U-free objects. The U-free object  $F(A, d_A)$  generated by  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$  can be identified (up to isomorphism of quantitative algebras) as follows:

$$F(A, d_A) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta^{F(A, d_A)}, \{op^{F(A, d_A)}\}_{op \in \Sigma})$$

where:

(a) the equivalence relation  $\equiv \subseteq \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \times \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  is defined as:

$$s \equiv t \iff \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A, d_A) . s = t$$

(b) the fuzzy relation  $\Delta^{F(A,d_A)}$ :  $(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv})^2 \to [0,1]$  is defined as:

$$\Delta^{F(A,d_A)}([s]_{\equiv},[t]_{\equiv}) \le \epsilon \Longleftrightarrow \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A,d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$$

(c) The interpretation  $op^{F(A,d_A)}$ :  $(\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv})^n \to (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv})$ of any *n*-ary operation  $op \in \Sigma$ , is defined as:

$$op^{F(A,d_A)}([s_1]_{\equiv},\ldots,[s_n]_{\equiv}) = [op(s_1,\ldots,s_n)]_{\equiv}$$
.

It can be shown that the definitions of  $\Delta^{F(A,d_A)}$  and  $op^{F(A,d_A)}$  are well specified regardless of the choice of representatives s, t for the classes  $[s]_{\equiv}, [t]_{\equiv}$ , and that indeed the quantitative algebra  $F(A, d_A)$  belongs to  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

These results are formally stated and proved in Section 5, and they give us the analogous of the result mentioned in Example 2.19 for Universal Algebra.

(III) As a corollary of the two results above and of Proposition 2.20, there is a functor  $F : \mathbf{FRel} \to \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  which associates to each  $\mathbf{FRel}$ space  $(A, d_A)$  the corresponding free object  $F(A, d_A)$ . The functor Fis a left adjoint of U:



where we just wrote U for  $U_{\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}}$  to improve readability.

This adjunction gives us a monad  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$  on **FRel**, which is defined similarly to the **Set** monad  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}$  of quotiented terms discussed in Example 2.12 and Example 2.21. In Section 6 we concretely identify this adjunction and monad, and we prove that the functor U :  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  is strictly monadic, i.e., there is an isomorphism of categories:

$$\mathbf{EM}(T_{\Sigma \Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}) \cong \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$$

where  $\mathbf{EM}(T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}})$  is the category of Eilenberg–Moore algebras for the monad  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$ .

- (IV) We identify two relevant collections of **FRel** monads and of classes of equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , respectively. On one side, we consider monads M in **FRel** that are monad liftings of a monad N in **Set** having an equational presentation  $\Psi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$ . On the other, classes of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi$  that are quantitative extensions of  $\Psi$ . In Section 7, after having defined the above notions and that of quantitative equational presentation of a monad on **FRel**, we establish (Theorem 7.5) the following correspondence:
  - (1) If M is a monad lifting of N, then M is presented by a quantitative extension of  $\Psi$ .
  - (2) If  $\Phi$  is a quantitative extension of  $\Psi$ , then  $\Phi$  is a quantitative equational presentation of an **FRel** monad that lifts N.
- (V) All the results in Item I-Item IV above, stated and proved for the category FRel, can be specialised and hold true for generalised metric spaces, i.e., for all full subcategories GMet of FRel defined as in Section 2.3 We show this in Section 8.

For example, it is possible to consider the category  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Sigma)$  of quantitative algebras whose underlying fuzzy relation space is a metric space  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{Met}$ . Accordingly, it is possible to define the entailment relation  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{Met}}$  restricted to  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Sigma)$  and have a sound and complete proof system  $\vdash_{\mathbf{Met}}$ . Furthermore, free quantitative algebras generated by metric spaces exist in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Phi)$  and the forgetful functor  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{Met}$  is strictly monadic. Finally, we also obtain the analogous of points Item IV1 and Item IV2 above, relating **Met** monads liftings and quantitative extensions.

Finally, our contributions are compared to those of the seminal work of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin <u>MPP16</u> in Section 9.

## 4 The Deductive System

In this section we introduce a deductive system which can be used to derive judgments of the form:  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$ , for  $\Phi \in \mathcal{P}(\operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma))$  and  $\phi \in \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$ . Thus, formally, we define by induction a relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)) \times \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$ . As standard, we often use  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  in infix notation, i.e., we write  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  for  $(\Phi, \phi) \in \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$ .

In the rest of this section, we will often just write  $\vdash$  instead of  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  to improve readability.

**Definition 4.1.** The relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)) \times \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$  is defined as the smallest relation satisfying the following properties:

1. Closure under the INIT rule: given any  $\Phi \in \mathcal{P}(\text{QEq}(\Sigma))$  and  $\phi \in \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , if  $\phi \in \Phi$  then  $\Phi \vdash \phi$  holds. That is:

$$\overline{\Phi \vdash \phi} \text{ INIT (proviso: } \phi \in \Phi)$$

2. Closure under the CUT rule: given any  $\Phi, \Phi' \in \mathcal{P}(\text{QEq}(\Sigma))$  and  $\psi \in \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , if we have that  $\Phi \vdash \phi$  holds for all  $\phi \in \Phi'$  and that  $\Phi \cup \Phi' \vdash \psi$  holds, then  $\Phi \vdash \psi$  holds. That is:

$$\frac{\{\Phi \vdash \phi\}_{\phi \in \Phi'} \quad \Phi, \Phi' \vdash \psi}{\Phi \vdash \psi} \operatorname{CUT}$$

3. Closure under the WEAKENING rule: given any  $\Phi, \Phi' \in \mathcal{P}(\text{QEq}(\Sigma))$ and  $\phi \in \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , if  $\Phi \vdash \phi$  holds, then  $\Phi \cup \Phi' \vdash \phi$  holds. That is:

$$\frac{\Phi \vdash \phi}{\Phi \cup \Phi' \vdash \phi}$$
 WEAKENING

- 4. The relation  $\vdash$  contains all the pairs  $\Phi \vdash \phi$  listed below (a)–(j). These pairs are "axiom schemes", meaning that pairs are obtained from axiom schemes by instantiating the involved fuzzy relation  $(A, d_A)$ , terms  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ , substitutions  $\sigma$ , etc., to concrete ones.
  - (a) (REFL of =):

$$\emptyset \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s = s$$

(b) (SYMM of =):

$$\forall (A, d_A) . s = t \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . t = s$$

(c) (TRANS of =):

$$\forall (A, d_A).s = t, \forall (A, d_A).t = u \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s = u$$

(d) (CONG of =): for all  $op \in \Sigma$  of arity n,

$$\forall (A, d_A) . s_1 = t_1, \dots, \forall (A, d_A) . s_n = t_n \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . op(s_1, \dots, s_n) = op(t_1, \dots, t_n)$$

- (e) (SUBSTITUTION for = and  $=_{\epsilon}$ ): Given
  - $(A, d_A)$  and  $(B, d_B)$  **FRel** spaces,
  - $\sigma: A \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)$ , a substitution,

we have the following two similar axiom schemes: one allowing substitution on conclusions that are equations (=) and the other on conclusions that are quantitative equations ( $=_{\epsilon}$ ):

$$\Psi_{\sigma}, \forall (A, d_A).s = t \vdash \forall (B, d_B).\sigma(s) = \sigma(t)$$

and

$$\Psi_{\sigma}, \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t \vdash \forall (B, d_B) . \sigma(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma(t)$$

where in both axiom schemes, the set  $\Psi_{\sigma}$  is defined as:

$$\Psi_{\sigma} = \left\{ \forall (B, d_B) . \sigma(a_i) =_{\epsilon_{i,j}} \sigma(a_j) \mid a_i, a_j \in A, \ \epsilon_{i,j} := d_A(a_i, a_j) \right\}$$

and where the function  $\sigma : A \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)$  is extended to a function of type  $\sigma : \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)$  (which we denote with the same symbol, abusing notation) as expected by induction on terms, by letting  $\sigma(op(s_1, ..., s_n)) = op(\sigma(s_1), ...\sigma(s_n))$ . (f) (USE VARIABLES): For a metric space  $(A, d_A)$  and  $a, a' \in A$  and  $\epsilon = d_A(a, a')$ :

$$\emptyset \vdash \forall (A, d_A).a =_{\epsilon} a'$$

(g) (UP-CLOSURE): for all  $\epsilon \leq \delta$ :

$$\forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\delta} t$$

(h) (1-MAX):

$$\emptyset \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_1 t$$

(i) (ORDER COMPLETENESS): For an index set I,

$$\left\{ \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon_i} t \right\}_{i \in I} \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\inf\{\epsilon_i\}_{i \in I}} t$$

(j) (Left and Right CONGRUENCE) of = with respect to  $=_{\epsilon}$ :

$$\forall (A, d_A).s = t, \forall (A, d_A).t =_{\epsilon} u \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} u$$

and

$$\forall (A, d_A) . s = t, \forall (A, d_A) . u =_{\epsilon} s \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . u =_{\epsilon} t$$

The first basic result regarding the deductive system is the soundness theorem.

**Theorem 4.2** (Soundness). The inclusion  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \subseteq \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  holds.

*Proof.* To improve notation we just write  $\vdash$  for  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$ , as already done above, and also  $\parallel \vdash$  for  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$ .

Assume  $\Phi \vdash \phi$ . We prove that  $\Phi \parallel \vdash \phi$  holds by induction on the derivation tree used to derive  $\Phi \vdash \phi$ .

Most cases are straightforward, including the occurrences of INIT, CUT and WEAKENING rules and most axiom schemes, so we only detail some of those. The only non-obvious case is the (SUBSTITUTION) axiom scheme (e), which we will prove in full detail.

For an instance of an easy to prove axiom scheme, consider the (USE VARIABLES) axiom scheme (f). We need to show that for an arbitrary quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{C} = (C, d_C, \{op^C\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  we have

$$\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A).a =_{\epsilon} a'$$

for any **FRel** space  $(A, d_A)$  and  $a, a' \in A$  with  $\epsilon = d_A(a, a')$ . This means that, for any nonexpansive interpretation  $\tau : (A, d_A) \to (C, d_C)$ , we need to prove that:

$$d_C(\llbracket a \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}, \llbracket a' \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}) \le \epsilon$$

which by the definition of semantics is equivalent to

$$d_C(\tau(a), \tau(a')) \le \epsilon.$$

This holds since  $\tau$  is nonexpansive, so we have proven that the axiom scheme is sound.

For another simple example, consider the (Left CONGRUENCE) axiom scheme (j). We need to show that a quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{C} = (C, d_C, \{op^C\}_{op \in \Sigma})$ satisfying all the left-side premises of the axiom, i.e.,

- 1.  $\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A) . s = t$
- 2.  $\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A) . t =_{\epsilon} u$

necessarily also satisfies the right-side quantitative equation, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} u$$

Take a nonexpansive interpretation  $\tau : (A, d_A) \to (C, d_C)$ . Then by the two premises we obtain:

1.  $\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}} = \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}$ 2.  $d_C(\llbracket t \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}, \llbracket u \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}) \le \epsilon$ 

from which we immediately derive the desired conclusion:

$$d_C(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}, \llbracket u \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}) \le \epsilon.$$

We now proceed with the proof of soundness of the (SUBSTITUTION) axiom scheme (e), which is the non-obvious case, as anticipated above.

Let  $\sigma : A \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)$  be an arbitrary substitution. We need to show that a quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{C} = (C, d_C, \{op^C\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  satisfying all the left-side premises of (e), i.e.,

1. 
$$\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$$
  
2.  $\mathbb{C} \models \{\forall (B, d_B).\sigma(a_i) =_{\epsilon_{i,j}} \sigma(a_j) \mid a_i, a_j \in A, \ \epsilon_{i,j} := d_A(a_i, a_j)\}$ 

necessarily also satisfies the right-side equation or quantitative equation (we just consider the quantitative equation case as the two are similar), i.e.,

$$\mathbb{C} \models \forall (B, d_B) . \sigma(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma(t).$$

Towards this end, take an arbitrary nonexpansive interpretation:

$$\tau: (B, d_B) \to (C, d_C).$$

From the interpretation  $\tau$  and the substitution  $\sigma$ , we define a new interpretation  $\hat{\sigma}$  as follows:

$$\hat{\sigma}: (A, d_A) \to (C, d_C) \qquad \hat{\sigma}(a) := \llbracket \sigma(a) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$

Before proceeding further, we need to show that  $\hat{\sigma}$  is nonexpansive. So, take any  $a, a' \in A$  and assume  $d_A(a, a') = \delta$ . Since (from the second hypothesis):

$$\mathbb{C} \models \forall (B, d_B) . \sigma(a) =_{\delta} \sigma(a')$$

it holds (taking the interpretation  $\tau$ ) that:

$$d_C(\llbracket \sigma(a) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}, \llbracket \sigma(a') \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}) \le \delta$$

By definition of  $\hat{\sigma}$ , this means that:

$$d_C(\hat{\sigma}(a), \hat{\sigma}(a')) \leq \delta,$$

which concludes the proof that  $\hat{\sigma}$  is nonexpansive.

From the first hypothesis (i.e.,  $\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$ ) and taking as interpretation  $\hat{\sigma}$ , we know that:

$$d_C(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\hat{\sigma}}^{\mathbb{C}}, \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\hat{\sigma}}^{\mathbb{C}}) \le \epsilon.$$

It is now sufficient to observe that:

$$\llbracket \sigma(s) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}} = \llbracket s \rrbracket_{\hat{\sigma}}^{\mathbb{C}} \qquad \llbracket \sigma(t) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}} = \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\hat{\sigma}}^{\mathbb{C}}$$

from which we derive that:

$$d_C(\llbracket \sigma(s) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}, \llbracket \sigma(t) \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}) \leq \epsilon.$$

Since  $\tau$  was chosen as an arbitrary nonexpansive interpretation, we can derive the desired:

$$\mathbb{C} \models \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma(t).$$

The above proof of soundness is rather direct and simple. Proving the opposite direction, i.e., the completeness theorem, in contrast requires more work. Indeed we will use the proof system  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  to construct free objects in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ , prove some results about such free objects and finally derive the completeness result.

Our results regarding free objects in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  are presented in Section 5. The completeness Theorem 5.17 is also established in that section, as a corollary.

## 5 Free Quantitative Algebras

In the following, we fix a signature  $\Sigma$  and a class of **FRel** (quantitative)  $\Sigma$ -equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ . Let us denote by U the forgetful functor:

$$U: \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$$

which acts on objects as:

$$(A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma}) \mapsto (A, d_A)$$

and as identity on morphisms.

We are going to prove the following statement using (the soundness of) the deductive system  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  as main tool. Recall that free objects are defined as in Definition 2.18.

**Theorem 5.1.** For every  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$  the U-free object generated by  $(A, d_A)$  exists in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

The proof of this statement occupies the rest of this section.

Let us fix an arbitrary  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$ . We are going to explicitly construct the U-free object in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ , denoted by  $F(A, d_A)$ , with respect to a nonexpansive map

$$\alpha: (A, d_A) \to U(F(A, d_A))$$

defined later on in Lemma 5.13.

First, consider the case when  $(A, d_A) = (\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$  and  $\Sigma$  does not contain any constant, i.e., the case when  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) = \emptyset$ . In this specific case it is easy to verify, using the fact that  $(\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$  is initial in **FRel**, that the empty quantitative algebra (operations  $op^{\emptyset}$  are uniquely determined by initiality of  $\emptyset$  in **Set**):

$$(\emptyset, d_{\emptyset}, \{op^{\emptyset}\}_{op \in \Sigma})$$

is the U-free object generated by  $(\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$  relative to the (unique of this type) nonexpansive map:  $\alpha : (\emptyset, d_{\emptyset}) \to (\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$ .

Now, for the other cases, assume that either  $(A, d_A) \neq (\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$  or that  $\Sigma$  contains some constants, i.e., the case when  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \neq \emptyset$ .

We are going to proceed as follows:

- 1. (Section 5.1) Formally define the quantitative algebra  $F(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$ .
- 2. (Section 5.2) Prove that, indeed,  $F(A, d_A)$  belongs to  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ . In other words, we show that  $F(A, d_A)$  satisfies all the **FRel** equations and quantitative equations in  $\Phi$ .

3. (Section 5.3) Finally, define the map

$$\alpha: (A, d_A) \to U(F(A, d_A))$$

and show that  $F(A, d_A)$  satisfies the universal property (from Definition 2.18) defining the (unique, up to isomorphism) free algebra generated by  $(A, d_A)$ .

## **5.1** Definition of $F(A, d_A)$

We recall that, by the soundness (Theorem 4.2) of the deductive system, whenever  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  holds, also  $\Phi \parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  holds. We denote the relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  just with  $\vdash$  to improve readability.

We start by defining a binary relation  $(\equiv)$ :

$$\equiv \subseteq \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \times \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$$

and a fuzzy relation (d):

$$d: \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \times \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \to [0, 1]$$

on the set of terms  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  built from A, as follows.

**Definition 5.2.** We define  $\equiv$  as follows, for all  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ :

$$s \equiv t \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s = t.$$

We define d as follows, for all  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ :

$$d(s,t) = \inf_{\epsilon} \left\{ \Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t \right\}.$$

**Lemma 5.3.** The relation  $\equiv$  is an equivalence relation.

*Proof.* This is due to the presence in the deductive system of the axiom schemes: (REFL of =) (a), (SYMM of =) (b) and (TRANS of =) (c).  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.4.** The relation  $\equiv$  is a congruence relation:

$$s_1 \equiv t_1, \dots, s_n \equiv t_n \Rightarrow op(s_1, \dots, s_n) \equiv op(t_1, \dots, t_n)$$

for all  $op \in \Sigma$  and  $s_1, t_1, \ldots, s_n, t_n \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ .

*Proof.* This is due to the presence in the system of the (CONG of =) axiom scheme (d).  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.5.** The function d is a fuzzy relation on  $\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  and satisfies:

$$d(s,t) = \epsilon \implies \Phi \vdash \forall (A,d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t.$$

*Proof.* The fact that d is a fuzzy relation (i.e., a function of type  $(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A))^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$ ) follows from the (1-MAX) axiom scheme (h) (d is defined on all pairs of terms, with  $d(s,t) \leq 1$ ) and the fact that all  $\epsilon$ 's are positive (hence  $d(s,t) \geq 0$ ).

The property:

$$d(s,t) = \epsilon \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \Phi \vdash \forall (A,d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$$

follows from the presence of the (ORDER COMPLETENESS) axiom scheme  $(\mathbf{j})$ .

The following technical lemma relates the proof system  $(\vdash)$  with the definition of the fuzzy relation d.

Lemma 5.6.  $\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t \iff d(s, t) \leq \epsilon$ .

*Proof.* The  $(\Rightarrow)$  direction follows immediately from the definition of d as an infimum.

For the ( $\Leftarrow$ ) direction, assume  $d(s,t) \leq \epsilon$ . Let  $d(s,t) = \delta$  with  $\delta \leq \epsilon$ . As we already established in Lemma 5.5,

$$d(s,t) = \delta \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \Phi \vdash \forall (A,d_A).s =_{\delta} t$$

holds and therefore we deduce that:

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\delta} t$$

holds. From this, using the (UP-CLOSURE) axiom scheme (g), we can derive (within the deductive system  $\vdash$ , using other rules such as the CUT rule):

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$$

as desired.

The following technical lemma shows that the fuzzy relation d is compatible with the equivalence relation  $\equiv$ .

**Lemma 5.7.** The equivalence relation  $\equiv$  is a left and right congruence with respect to the fuzzy relation d, in the following sense: for all  $s, t, u \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ :

$$s \equiv t$$
 and  $d(t, u) \leq \epsilon \implies d(s, u) \leq \epsilon$ 

and

$$s \equiv t$$
 and  $d(u, s) \le \epsilon \implies d(u, t) \le \epsilon$ .
*Proof.* We just consider the first implication (left-congruence) as the other case is similar. Assume  $s \equiv t$  and  $d(t, u) \leq \epsilon$ . By definition of  $\equiv$  and by Lemma 5.6 this means that:

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s = t \qquad \Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).t =_{\epsilon} u$$

Using the (Left CONGRUENCE) axiom scheme (j) we obtain that

 $\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} u,$ 

and from this we derive, by definition of d, that

$$d(s, u) \le \epsilon. \qquad \Box$$

Since we have established that  $\equiv$  is an equivalence relation, the quotient  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$ , consisting of  $\equiv$ -equivalence classes, is well-defined. Furthermore, the equivalence  $\equiv$  is a left and right congruence for the fuzzy relation d. This implies that the following is a good definition, regardless of the choice of representatives.

**Definition 5.8.** The fuzzy relation  $\Delta$  :  $(\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv} \times \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}) \rightarrow [0,1]$  is defined as:

$$\Delta([s]_{\equiv}, [t]_{\equiv}) = d(s, t).$$

Moreover, since we have already established in Lemma 5.4 that  $\equiv$  is a congruence on  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ , the interpretation  $op^{F(A,d_A)}$  of each operation  $op \in \Sigma$  specified as:

$$op^{F(A,d_A)}([s_1]_{\equiv},\ldots,[s_n]_{\equiv}) = [op(s_1,\ldots,s_n)]_{\equiv}$$

is well-defined and does not depend on a specific choice of representatives for the equivalence classes.

We can collect the results of this subsection as follows:

**Corollary 5.9.** The structure  $(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta, \{op^{F(A,d_A)}\}_{op\in\Sigma})$  is a quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra.

The quantitative algebra identified above is our definition of  $F(A, d_A)$ .

**Definition 5.10.** The quantitative algebra  $F(A, d_A)$  is defined as:

$$F(A, d_A) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta, \{op^{F(A, d_A)}\}_{op \in \Sigma}).$$

Sometimes, to improve notation, we will explicitly identify some relevant parameters involved in the construction of the quantitative algebra (such as  $\Phi$ ,  $(A, d_A)$  and  $\Sigma$ ). For example we will write:

$$F(B, d_B) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)/_{\equiv}, \Delta^{F(B, d_B)}, \{op^{F(B, d_B)}\}_{op \in \Sigma})$$

to highlight that the fuzzy relation  $\Delta^{F(B,d_B)}$  is the one associated with  $(B, d_B)$ . Note that also the relation  $\equiv$  is parametric with respect to the generating fuzzy relation space.

#### **5.2** Proof that $F(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$

We show in Lemma 5.12 below that the quantitative algebra  $F(A, d_A)$  constructed from  $(A, d_A)$ , as in the previous Section 5.1, satisfies all **FRel** equations and quantitative equations in  $\Phi$ .

The proof exploits the following property of  $F(A, d_A)$ .

**Lemma 5.11.** Assume  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $\tau : X \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$  be a function. Let  $c : \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv} \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  be a choice function, i.e., such that  $c([s]_{\equiv}) \in [s]_{\equiv}$ , thus choosing an element  $s \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  for each  $\equiv$ -equivalence class  $[s]_{\equiv} \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$ . Note that one such c exists by the axiom of choice. Define  $\sigma_{\tau} : X \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  as:  $\sigma_{\tau}(x) = c(\tau(x))$ . Then, for all  $s \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ , it holds that:

$$\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)} = [\sigma_{\tau}(s)]_{\equiv}$$

where  $\sigma_{\tau}(s)$  is the term obtained by applying the substitution  $\sigma_{\tau}$  to s.

*Proof.* The proof is by induction on s. For s = x, the result is immediate by definition of  $\sigma_{\tau}$ , i.e.,

$$\llbracket x \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)} = \tau(x) = [\sigma_{\tau}(x)]_{\equiv}$$

For  $s = op(s_1, \dots s_n)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)} &= op^{F(A,d_A)}(\llbracket s_1 \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)}, \dots, \llbracket s_n \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)}) & \text{(by definition of } \llbracket_{-} \rrbracket) \\ &= op^{F(A,d_A)}([\sigma_{\tau}(s_1)]_{\equiv}, \dots, [\sigma_{\tau}(s_n)]_{\equiv}) & \text{(by inductive hypothesis)} \\ &= [op(\sigma_{\tau}(s_1), \dots, \sigma_{\tau}(s_n)]_{\equiv} & \text{(by definition of } op^{F(A,d_A)}) \\ &= [\sigma_{\tau}(op(s_1, \dots, s_n))]_{\equiv} & \text{(by definition of } \sigma_{\tau} \text{ on terms)}. \end{split}$$

**Lemma 5.12.** It holds that:  $F(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

Proof. Let

$$F(A, d_A) = \left( \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) /_{\Xi}, \Delta, \{ op^{F(A, d_A)} \}_{op \in \Sigma} \right)$$

as specified in Definition 5.10 of the previous Section 5.1.

We need to show that if  $\phi \in \Phi$  with:

$$\phi = \forall (X, d_X) . s = t$$
 equation

or

 $\phi = \forall (X, d_X).s =_{\epsilon} t$  quantitative equation

for some **FRel** space  $(X, d_X)$  and terms  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$ , then

 $F(A, d_A) \models \phi$ .

Therefore, we need to show that for every nonexpansive interpretation  $\tau : (X, d_X) \to (\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta)$ , it holds that:

$$\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)} = \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)} \qquad \text{equation}$$

or

$$\Delta\left([\![s]\!]_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)},[\![t]\!]_{\tau}^{F(A,d_A)}\right) \leq \epsilon \quad \text{ quantitative equation}$$

or equivalently, by applying Lemma 5.11 where we take  $\sigma_{\tau}$  defined as in the lemma, we need to show that:

$$[\sigma_{\tau}(s)]_{\equiv} = [\sigma_{\tau}(t)]_{\equiv}$$
 equation

or

$$\Delta \left( [\sigma_{\tau}(s)]_{\equiv} , [\sigma_{\tau}(t)]_{\equiv} \right) \leq \epsilon$$
 quantitative equation

which in turn, by definition of the equivalence relation  $\equiv$  and of  $\Delta$  (which is defined in Definition 5.8 in terms of the fuzzy relation d), means that:

$$\sigma_{\tau}(s) \equiv \sigma_{\tau}(t)$$
 equation

or

$$d(\sigma_{\tau}(s), \sigma_{\tau}(t)) \leq \epsilon$$
 quantitative equation.

Hence, by unfolding the definitions of  $\equiv$  and d (Definition 5.2), we need to show that:

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A). \ \sigma_{\tau}(s) = \sigma_{\tau}(t)$$
 equation

or

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A). \ \sigma_{\tau}(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma_{\tau}(t)$$
 quantitative equation

is derivable.

We just consider below the case when  $\phi$  is a quantitative equation, the other case ( $\phi$  is an equation) is identical, just using the appropriate version of the (SUBSTITUTION) axiom scheme (e). The assumption that  $\tau$  is nonexpansive means that for all  $x_i, x_j \in X$ :

$$d_X(x_i, x_j) \le \epsilon_{ij} \implies \Delta(\llbracket x_i \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A, d_A)}, \llbracket x_j \rrbracket_{\tau}^{F(A, d_A)}) \le \epsilon_{ij}$$

which by Lemma 5.11 is equivalent to

 $d_X(x_i, x_j) \le \epsilon_{ij} \implies \Delta([\sigma_\tau(x_i)]_{\equiv}, [\sigma_\tau(x_j)]_{\equiv}) \le \epsilon_{ij}$ 

By definition of  $\Delta$ , d and Lemma 5.6, this gives us:

$$d_X(x_i, x_j) \le \epsilon_{\epsilon_{ij}} \implies \Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(x_i) =_{\epsilon_{ij}} \sigma_\tau(x_j).$$
(5)

We know that:

(I) Since  $\forall (X, d_X) . s =_{\epsilon} t$  belongs to  $\Phi$ , by the INIT rule we have:

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (X, d_X) . s =_{\epsilon} t$$

(II) By (5) we have all of the following judgments:

$$\left\{ \Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(x_i) =_{\epsilon_{ij}} \sigma_\tau(x_j) \mid x_i, x_j \in X, \ \epsilon_{ij} := d_X(x_i, x_j) \right\}$$

Note that, using  $\sigma_{\tau}$  as substitution, (I) and (II) above constitute the premises of the (SUBSTITUTION) axiom scheme (quantitative equation instance of (e)), which we restate here for convenience<sup>14</sup>:

$$\Psi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(s) =_\epsilon \sigma_\tau(t)$$

where

$$\Psi = \left\{ \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(x_i) =_{\epsilon_{ij}} \sigma_\tau(x_j) \mid x_i, x_j \in X, \ \epsilon_{ij} := d_X(x_i, x_j) \right\} \cup \{\forall (X, d_X) . s =_{\epsilon} t \}$$
  
From which we can derive the desired:

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(s) =_\epsilon \sigma_\tau(t)$$

as follows:

$$\frac{(\mathrm{I}) \qquad (\mathrm{II}) \qquad \overline{\Psi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma_\tau(t)}}{\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_\tau(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma_\tau(t)} \operatorname{SUBST}_{\mathrm{CUT}}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Compared to the version presented in the list of axioms of the proof system, apply the renaming  $A \to X$  and  $B \to A$ .

#### **5.3** Proof of freeness of $F(A, d_A)$

We now show that the quantitative algebra

$$F(A, d_A) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta, \{op^{F(A, d_A)}\}_{op \in \Sigma}).$$

constructed as specified in Definition 5.10 is indeed the free object in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ generated by  $(A, d_A)$ . We first observe that the map  $(a \mapsto [a]_{\equiv})$  is nonexpansive.

**Lemma 5.13.** The map  $\alpha : (A, d_A) \to (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta)$  defined as:

$$\alpha(a) = [a]_{\equiv}$$

for all  $a \in A$ , is nonexpansive.

*Proof.* If  $(A, d_A) = (\emptyset, d_{\emptyset})$  the function  $\alpha$  is trivially nonexpansive. Otherwise, fix arbitrary  $a_1, a_2 \in A$  and assume  $d_A(a_1, a_2) = \epsilon$ . We need to prove that:

$$\Delta([a_1]_{\equiv}, [a_2]_{\equiv}) \le \epsilon$$

This follows from the definition of  $\Delta$ , Lemma 5.6, and the presence in the proof system of the (USE VARIABLES) axiom scheme (f).

Remark 5.14. We note that the map  $\alpha$  is generally not an isometry (i.e., distance preserving) nor an injection, although it is in many interesting cases. For example, consider the case when the generating fuzzy relation space  $(A, d_A)$  is defined as follows:

$$A = \{a_1, a_2\} \quad d_A(a_1, a_2) = d_A(a_2, a_1) = \frac{1}{2} \quad d_A(a_1, a_1) = d_A(a_2, a_2) = 0$$

i.e., it is a metric space consisting of two points at distance  $\frac{1}{2}$ , the signature  $\Sigma$  is empty, and the set  $\Phi = \{\forall (A, d_A).a_1 = a_2\}$  consists of just one **FRel** equation. In this case it is easy to check that  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\Xi}$  has a single element (i.e., all terms in  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  are  $\equiv$ -equivalent), and thus the map  $\alpha$  is neither an injection nor an isometry.

Recall that  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  is the forgetful functor which maps a quantitative algebra to its underlying fuzzy relation space. We are now ready to proceed with the proof that  $F(A, d_A)$  is the U-free object generated by  $(A, d_A)$  relative to the map  $\alpha : (A, d_A) \to (\mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\Xi}, \Delta)$  defined earlier, in the sense of Definition 2.18. **Theorem 5.15.** Let  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$ . The quantitative algebra  $F(A, d_A)$  is the U-free object generated by  $(A, d_A)$  relative to the map  $\alpha : (A, d_A) \to (\mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\Xi}, \Delta)$ 

$$a \stackrel{\alpha}{\mapsto} [a]_{\equiv}.$$

*Proof.* We need to show that for every quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{B} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ 

$$\mathbb{B} = (B, d_B, \{op^{\mathbb{B}}\}_{op \in \Sigma})$$

and nonexpansive map

$$f: (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$$

there is a unique homomorphism of quantitative algebras

$$\hat{f}: F(A, d_A) \to \mathbb{B}$$

which extends f, i.e., which satisfies  $f = U(\hat{f}) \circ \alpha$ .

In the remainder of the proof we will generally omit the explicit use of the forgetful functors on morphisms, i.e., we will often write the same symbol to denote a function f seen as a set function, or as a morphism of metric spaces, or as a morphism of quantitative algebras.

We proceed as follows. First (Existence) we exhibit a nonexpansive homomorphism  $\hat{f}: F(A, d_A) \to \mathbb{B}$ , then (Extension) we show that  $\hat{f}$  extends f, and lastly (Uniqueness) we show that  $\hat{f}$  is the unique such homomorphism.

**Existence.** Recall that, by definition, we have

$$F(A, d_A) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta, \{op^{F(A, d_A)}\}_{op \in \Sigma}).$$

For all terms  $s \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ , define  $\hat{f}$  as

$$\hat{f}([s]_{\equiv}) := \llbracket s \rrbracket_{f}^{\mathbb{B}}$$

Before moving on, we need to establish that this is well-defined, i.e., that it does not depend on any choice of representative s for the class  $[s]_{\equiv}$ .

To see this, observe that if  $s \equiv t$  then, by definition of the relation ( $\equiv$ ), it holds that  $\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s = t$ . By the soundness (Theorem 4.2) of the deductive system, we have that

$$\forall (A, d_A).s = t \in \mathbf{QTh}_{\Sigma}(\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi))$$

Since  $\mathbb{B} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  by hypothesis, this means that

$$\mathbb{B} \models \forall (A, d_A) . s = t$$

and, in particular taking  $f : (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  as (nonexpansive) interpretation, it holds that  $[\![s]\!]_f^{\mathbb{B}} = [\![t]\!]_f^{\mathbb{B}}$ . Hence  $\hat{f}$  is well-defined as a function.

It remains to show that:

- 1.  $\hat{f}$  is a homomorphism and,
- 2.  $\hat{f}$  is nonexpansive.

The first follows from the interpretation  $op^{F(A,d_A)}$  of the operations in  $F(A, d_A)$  as follows:

$$\hat{f}(op^{F(A,d_A)}([s_1]_{\equiv},...,[s_n]_{\equiv})) = \hat{f}([op(s_1,...,s_n)]_{\equiv}) = [\![op(s_1,...,s_n)]\!]_f^{\mathbb{B}} = op^{\mathbb{B}}([\![s_1]]\!]_f^{\mathbb{B}},...,[\![s_n]]\!]_f^{\mathbb{B}}) = op^{\mathbb{B}}(\hat{f}([s_1]_{\equiv}),...,\hat{f}([s_n]_{\equiv})).$$

Regarding the second point (nonexpansiveness), take two arbitrary  $[s]_{\equiv}, [t]_{\equiv} \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}$  and let  $\Delta([s]_{\equiv}, [t]_{\equiv}) = \epsilon$  be their distance in  $F(A, d_A)$ . We need to show that

$$d_B(\hat{f}([s]_{\equiv}), \hat{f}([t]_{\equiv})) \le \epsilon$$

As established in Lemma 5.6, the hypothesis  $\Delta([s]_{\pm}, [t]_{\pm}) = \epsilon$  implies that:

$$\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$$

From the soundness of the deductive system (Theorem 4.2), we therefore know that:

 $\forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t \in \mathbf{QTh}_{\Sigma}(\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi))$ 

and since  $\mathbb{B} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  by hypothesis, we deduce that:

$$\mathbb{B} \models \forall (A, d_A) . s =_{\epsilon} t$$

Taking as nonexpansive interpretation  $f : (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  we therefore obtain that:  $d_B(\llbracket s \rrbracket_f^{\mathbb{B}}, \llbracket t \rrbracket_f^{\mathbb{B}}) \leq \epsilon$ . By the definition of  $\hat{f}$  we have

$$\hat{f}([s]_{\equiv}) = \llbracket s \rrbracket_f^{\mathbb{B}} \quad \text{and} \ \hat{f}([t]_{\equiv}) = \llbracket t \rrbracket_f^{\mathbb{B}}$$

so we conclude as desired that

$$d_B(\hat{f}([s]_{\equiv}), \hat{f}([t]_{\equiv})) \le \epsilon.$$

**Extension.** We need to show that  $f = \hat{f} \circ \alpha$ . For any  $a \in A$ , we have

$$(\hat{f} \circ \alpha)(a) = \hat{f}(\alpha(a))$$

$$= \hat{f}([a]_{\equiv}) \qquad (\text{definition of } \alpha)$$

$$= \llbracket a \rrbracket_{f}^{\mathbb{B}} \qquad (\text{definition of } \hat{f})$$

$$= f(a) \qquad (\text{definition of } \llbracket_{-} \rrbracket_{f}^{\mathbb{B}})$$

**Uniqueness.** Let  $g: F(A, d_A) \to \mathbb{B}$  be another nonexpansive homomorphism extending  $f: (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$ , i.e.,  $f = g \circ \alpha$ . We now prove that for all  $s \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  it holds that:  $g([s]_{\equiv}) = \hat{f}([s]_{\equiv})$ .

Again, this follows from the interpretation of the operations in  $F(A, d_A)$ . Formally, the proof goes by induction on the structure of s as follows:

The base case (s = a) is immediate, as both g and  $\hat{f}$  extend f, i.e.,

$$g([a]_{\equiv}) = g \circ \alpha(a) = f(a) = \hat{f} \circ \alpha(a) = \hat{f}([a]_{\equiv})$$

For the inductive case we use the fact that g and  $\hat{f}$  are homomorphisms, together with the inductive hypothesis:

$$g([op(s_1, ..., s_n)]_{\equiv}) = g(op^{F(A, d_A)}([s_1]_{\equiv}, ..., [s_n]_{\equiv}))$$
  
=  $op^{\mathbb{B}}(g([s_1]_{\equiv}), ..., g([s_n]_{\equiv}))$   
=  $op^{\mathbb{B}}(\hat{f}([s_1]_{\equiv}), ..., \hat{f}([s_n]_{\equiv}))$   
=  $\hat{f}(op^{F(A, d_A)}([s_1]_{\equiv}, ..., [s_n]_{\equiv}))$   
=  $\hat{f}([op(s_1, ..., s_n)]_{\equiv}).$ 

#### 5.4 Completeness of the Deductive System

By exploiting the existence of free objects, we can now establish the completeness of the deductive system  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$ , Theorem 5.17 below.

The proof relies on the following property of  $F(A, d_A)$ , which, as we have seen, is the *U*-free object (here *U* is  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$ ) generated by the **FRel** space  $(A, d_A)$  relative to the nonexpansive map  $\alpha : (A, d_A) \to F(A, d_A)$ .

**Lemma 5.16.** For all  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ ,

if 
$$\llbracket s \rrbracket^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha} = \llbracket t \rrbracket^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha}$$
 then  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A,d_A).s = t$ 

and

if 
$$\Delta(\llbracket s \rrbracket^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha}, \llbracket t \rrbracket^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha}) \le \epsilon$$
 then  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t.$ 

*Proof.* First, consider the case when  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) = \emptyset$ , i.e., when  $A = \emptyset$  and  $\Sigma$  does not contain any constant. In this case the statement of the lemma trivially holds as the universal quantification on terms is empty.

Now assume  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \neq \emptyset$ .

For the equation case, suppose that the equality  $[\![s]\!]^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha} = [\![t]\!]^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha}$ holds. Note that by Lemma 5.11, where we instantiate  $\tau$  with  $\alpha$ , we have  $[\![s]\!]^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha} = [\sigma_{\alpha}(s)]_{\equiv}$ , where  $\sigma_{\alpha} : A \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  is a choice function for  $\alpha$  as required in the lemma. Since  $\sigma_{\alpha}$  maps elements of A to terms in their  $\equiv$ equivalence class, by the definition of  $\equiv$  (Definition 5.2) and by the (CONG of =) axiom scheme (d) we derive that  $\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A) . \sigma_{\alpha}(s) = s$ . Thus by the definition of  $\equiv$  we have:

$$\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\alpha}^{F(A,d_A)} = [\sigma_{\alpha}(s)]_{\equiv} = [s]_{\equiv}.$$

Analogously, we derive that  $\llbracket t \rrbracket_{\alpha}^{F(A,d_A)} = [t]_{\equiv}$ . Hence,  $[s]_{\equiv} = [t]_{\equiv}$ , which by definition of  $\equiv$  means  $\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s = t$ .

Similarly, for the quantitative equation case, we have that the inequality  $\Delta(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\alpha}^{F(A,d_A)}, \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\alpha}^{F(A,d_A)}) \leq \epsilon$  implies, by Lemma 5.11 as above,  $\Delta([s]_{\equiv}, [t]_{\equiv}) \leq \epsilon$ . Then, by the definition of  $\Delta$  as d (Definition 5.8 and Definition 5.2) and by Lemma 5.6, we conclude  $\Phi \vdash \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$ .

We can now prove the completeness theorem.

**Theorem 5.17** (Completeness of the deductive system). Fix a signature  $\Sigma$ and a class  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  of equations and quantitative equations. For all  $\phi \in \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ :

If  $\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  then  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$ .

*Proof.* Let us consider first the case of  $\phi$  being an equation of the form  $\phi := \forall (A, d_A) . s = t$ , for some **FRel** space  $(A, d_A)$  and terms  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ .

Note that since  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ , it must be the case that  $\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A) \neq \emptyset$ . By the free algebra Theorem 5.15 we know that

$$F(A, d_A) = (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta, \{op^{F(A, d_A)}\}_{op \in \Sigma})$$

is the  $U_{\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}}$ -free object generated by  $(A, d_A)$  relative to the nonexpansive map  $\alpha : (A, d_A) \to (\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv}, \Delta)$  defined as:  $\alpha(a) = [a]_{\equiv}$ .

By definition of the entailment relation  $(\Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}})$  the hypothesis  $\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$ implies that for all  $\mathbb{B} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  and for all nonexpansive interpretations  $\tau : (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  it holds  $[\![s]\!]_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}} = [\![t]\!]_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}$ . Hence, since  $F(A, d_A) \in$  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  and  $\alpha$  is nonexpansive, we have  $[\![s]\!]_{\alpha}^{F(A, d_A)} = [\![t]\!]_{\alpha}^{F(A, d_A)}$ . Then by Lemma 5.16 we conclude that  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A, d_A).s = t$ .

Analogously, for quantitative equations, if  $\phi$  is of the form  $\forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$  then we derive from  $\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi$  that  $\Delta(\llbracket s \rrbracket^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha}, \llbracket t \rrbracket^{F(A,d_A)}_{\alpha}) \leq \epsilon$ . By Lemma 5.16 we conclude  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$ .

**Corollary 5.18** (Soundness and Completeness). Fix a signature  $\Sigma$  and a class  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ . For all equations and quantitative equations  $\phi \in \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ :

$$\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi.$$

# 6 The Free-Forgetful Adjunction and Strict Monadicity

By relying on the construction of free objects shown in Section 5, we identify in this section the free-forgetful adjunction arising from it, together with the associated monad. We then proceed to prove the strict monadicity of the adjunction.

Recall from Proposition 2.20 in Section 2.2 that, given a functor  $U : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  such that  $\mathcal{D}$  has U-free objects, there is a functor  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$  which assigns to each element of  $\mathcal{C}$  its corresponding U-free object, and which gives an adjunction  $F \dashv U$  and a monad with functor  $U \circ F$ .

We have seen in Section 5 that the forgetful functor  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  has U-free objects, identified (up to isomorphism) as the quantitative algebras of quotiented terms. Hence, using the recipe from Proposition 2.20 we obtain the adjunction  $F \dashv U$ , where F is the functor mapping each **FRel** space  $(A, d_A)$  to the free quantitative algebra of quotiented terms  $F(A, d_A) =$  $(\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_A}, \Delta^{F(A,d_A)}, \{op^{F(A,d_A)}\}_{op\in\Sigma})$ . For a nonexpansive function f : $(A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$ , the functor F gives the nonexpansive homomorphism of quantitative algebras  $F(f) : F(A, d_A) \to F(B, d_B)$  which is the unique homomorphic extension of f. This means that once the forgetful functor U is applied, i.e., when seen as a (nonexpansive) function on terms, it can be defined by induction on  $t \in \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$  as follows:

$$UF(f)([a]_{\equiv_A}) = [f(a)]_{\equiv_B}$$

and

$$UF(f)([op(t_1,...,t_n)]_{\equiv_A}) = op^{F(B,d_B)}(UF(f)([t_1]_{\equiv_A})),...,UF(f)([t_n]_{\equiv_A})).$$

We denote the obtained **FRel** monad on UF (by Proposition 2.17) by  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$ , and we can describe it concretely as follows.

• The functor  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}} = U \circ F$  maps an object  $(A, d_A)$  to

$$T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(A, d_A) = (\mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_A}, \Delta^{F(A, d_A)})$$

and a morphism  $f: (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  to

$$T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(f) : (\mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_A}, \Delta^{F(A,d_A)}) \to (\mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(B)/_{\equiv_B}, \Delta^{F(B,d_B)})$$

where  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(f)([t]_{\equiv_A}) = UF(f)([t]_{\equiv_A})$  is the nonexpansive homomorphism which can be specified by induction on terms t as above.

- The unit η is given by the unit of the adjunction, i.e., for every (A, d<sub>A</sub>) ∈ FRel we have that η<sub>(A,d<sub>A</sub>)</sub> is the function α<sub>(A,d<sub>A</sub>)</sub> (see Lemma 5.13) given together with the free object F(A, d<sub>A</sub>) in Section 5. Concretely, this is the function assigning to a ∈ A the equivalence class [a]<sub>≡A</sub>.
- The multiplication  $\mu$  of the monad is given as  $\mu_{(A,d_A)} = U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)})$ , where  $\varepsilon$  is the counit of the adjunction. We now show that, for  $[t]_{\equiv_{F(A,d_A)}} \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_A})_{\equiv_{F(A,d_A)}}$ , the multiplication behaves as the function substituting each occurrence of an equivalence class of terms in t with a representative of the class, thus "flattening" the term as follows:

$$\mu_{(A,d_A)}\left(\left[t\left([t_1]_{\equiv_A},\ldots,[t_n]_{\equiv_A}\right)\right]_{\equiv_{F(A,d_A)}}\right)=\left[t(t_1,\ldots,t_n)\right]_{\equiv_A}.$$

This can be seen as follows where, to improve readability, we just write  $\equiv \text{for } \equiv_{F(A,d_A)}$ . For  $t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/\equiv_A)$  of the form  $t = [t']_{\equiv_A}$ , for some  $[t']_{\equiv_A} \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/\equiv_A$ , we have:

$$\mu_{(A,d_A)}([t]_{\equiv}) = \mu_{(A,d_A)}([[t']_{\equiv_A}]_{\equiv})$$

$$= U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)})([[t']_{\equiv_A}]_{\equiv})$$

$$= U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)}) \circ \eta_{UF(A,d_A)}([t']_{\equiv_A})$$

$$= \mathrm{id}_{UF(A,d_A)}([t']_{\equiv_A})$$

$$= [t']_{\equiv_A}$$

where the second to last equation follows from the properties of the unit-counit triangle identities of the adjunction (see Section 2.2). For  $t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_A})$  of the form  $t = op(t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ , for some  $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(\text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_A})$ , we have:

$$\mu_{(A,d_A)}([t]_{\equiv}) = \mu_{(A,d_A)} \Big( [op(t_1, \dots t_n)]_{\equiv} \Big)$$

$$= U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)}) \Big( [op(t_1, \dots t_n)]_{\equiv} \Big)$$

$$= U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)}) \Big( op^{F \Big( U(F(A,d_A)) \Big)} ([t_1]_{\equiv}, \dots, [t_n]_{\equiv}) \Big)$$

$$= op^{F(A,d_A)} \Big( U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)}) ([t_1]_{\equiv}), \dots, U(\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)}) ([t_n]_{\equiv}) \Big)$$

$$= op^{F(A,d_A)} \Big( \mu_{(A,d_A)} ([t_1]_{\equiv}), \dots, \mu_{(A,d_A)} ([t_n]_{\equiv}) \Big)$$

where we exploit the fact that  $\varepsilon_{F(A,d_A)}$  is a homomorphism.

We now proceed to prove that the forgetful functor  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  is strictly monadic (see Definition 2.23), i.e., that there is an isomorphism of categories:

$$\mathbf{EM}(T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}) \cong \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$$

where  $\mathbf{EM}(T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}})$  is the *Eilenberg–Moore* category of M (see Definition 2.13).

We will prove in Theorem 6.3 that  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  satisfies the condition (3) of Beck's theorem (Proposition 2.25), from which we conclude by Beck's theorem that it is strictly monadic. In order to do so, we first consider the special case when  $\Phi = \emptyset$ . In this case we recall that  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\emptyset) = \mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$  consists of the category of all quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras.

**Theorem 6.1.** The forgetful functor  $U_{\emptyset}$  :  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) \rightarrow \mathbf{FRel}$  is strictly monadic.

Sketch. It is enough to prove that the forgetful functor  $U_{\emptyset} : \mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  strictly creates coequalizers for all  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ -arrows f, g such that  $U_{\emptyset}(f), U_{\emptyset}(g)$  has an absolute coequalizer (in **FRel**). From this we derive, by Beck's theorem (Proposition 2.25), that  $U_{\emptyset}$  is strictly monadic. The argument follows the structure of the proof of [Mac88], §VI.8, Theorem 1], i.e., of the analogous result for **Set**. A fully detailed proof is available in [MSV23].

We are now going to use the above result, which deals with the special case  $\Phi = \emptyset$ , to prove Theorem 6.3 in its full generality, showing that the functor  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  is strictly monadic for arbitrary  $\Phi$ .

The proof is a generalisation of the analogous result in [Adá22], Theorem 2.17], which proves strict monadicity in the framework of [MPP16]. In particular, we prove that U satisfies the condition (3) of Beck's theorem, i.e., in contrast with Theorem [6.1], we use split coequalizers instead of absolute coequalizers. We do so since split coequalizers guarantee the existence of a right inverse of the coequalizer, which allows us to apply the following fact (Lemma [6.2]):  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  is closed under the images of homomorphisms that have a right inverse in **FRel**.

Recall that, given  $f : A \to B$  and  $g : B \to A$ , we say that g is a right inverse of f if  $f \circ g = id_A$ . Note that if f has a right inverse g, then f is surjective.

**Lemma 6.2.** Let  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^{\mathbb{A}}\}_{op\in\Sigma})$  be a quantitative algebra in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ , for some class of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi \subseteq \mathrm{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , and let  $\mathbb{B} = (B, d_B, \{op^{\mathbb{B}}\}_{op\in\Sigma})$  be in  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ . If there is a homomorphism of quantitative algebras  $f : \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$  such that U(f) has a nonexpansive right inverse  $g : (B, d_B) \to (A, d_A)$  then  $\mathbb{B}$  is in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

*Proof.* We need to show that, under the hypothesis of the statement, for every  $\phi \in \Phi$ :

 $\mathbb{B} \models \phi$ 

holds. We first consider the case of  $\phi$  being an equation:

$$\phi = \quad \forall (X, d_X) . s = t$$

for some **FRel** space  $(X, d_X)$  and terms  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$ .

By definition (of  $\mathbb{B} \models \phi$ ), we need to show that  $\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}} = \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}$ , for all nonexpansive interpretations  $\tau : (X, d_X) \to (B, d_B)$ .

Let  $\tau : (X, d_X) \to (B, d_B)$  be such an interpretation. Then  $g \circ \tau : (X, d_X) \to (A, d_A)$  is an interpretation in  $\mathbb{A}$  (which is nonexpansive as **FRel** is a category and thus the composition of nonexpansive functions is nonexpansive). We prove that for any term  $r \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$  (and so, in particular, s and t) it holds that:

$$U(f)(\llbracket r \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}) = \llbracket r \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}$$
(6)

The proof is by induction on r:

- if r = x then we have  $U(f)(\llbracket x \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}) = U(f) \circ g \circ \tau(x) = \tau(x) = \llbracket x \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}$ since g is a right inverse of U(f), i.e.,  $U(f) \circ g = \mathrm{id}_{B}$ .
- if  $r = op(r_1, ..., r_n)$  then we have

$$U(f)(\llbracket r \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}) = U(f)(op^{\mathbb{A}}(\llbracket r_{1} \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}, ..., \llbracket r_{n} \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}))$$
  
$$= op^{\mathbb{B}}(U(f)(\llbracket r_{1} \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}), ..., U(f)(\llbracket r_{n} \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}))$$
  
(by  $U(f)$  a homomorphism)  
$$= op^{\mathbb{B}}(\llbracket r_{1} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}, ..., \llbracket r_{n} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}))$$
 (by inductive hypothesis)  
$$= \llbracket r \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}$$

We now conclude the proof that  $\mathbb{B}$  satisfies the equation under the interpretation  $\tau$ . Since, by hypothesis,  $\mathbb{A}$  is a model of  $\Phi$ , we know that  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi$  and therefore:

$$\llbracket s \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}} = \llbracket t \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}} \tag{7}$$

Then, we derive:

$$\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}} = U(f)(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}})$$
 (by (6))

$$= U(f)(\llbracket t \rrbracket_{a\circ\tau}^{\mathbb{A}}) \tag{by (7)}$$

 $= \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}$  (by (6))

We now consider the case of quantitative equations  $\phi \in \Phi$  of the form:

$$\phi = \quad \forall (X, d_X) . s =_{\epsilon} t.$$

Since, by hypothesis A is a model of  $\Phi$ , we know that  $A \models \phi$  and therefore:

$$d_A(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}, \llbracket t \rrbracket_{g \circ \tau}^{\mathbb{A}}) \le \epsilon.$$

From which we derive:

$$d_{B}(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}, \llbracket t \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}) = d_{B}(U(f)(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{g\circ\tau}^{\mathbb{B}}), U(f)(\llbracket t \rrbracket_{g\circ\tau}^{\mathbb{B}})) \quad \text{(by } \textcircled{6}))$$

$$\leq d_{A}(\llbracket s \rrbracket_{g\circ\tau}^{\mathbb{A}}, \llbracket t \rrbracket_{g\circ\tau}^{\mathbb{A}}) \quad \text{(by } U(f) \text{ nonexpansive})$$

$$\leq \epsilon \quad \text{(by } \mathbb{A} \text{ a model of } \Phi) \quad \Box$$

**Theorem 6.3** (Strict Monadicity of  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$ ). The forgetful functor  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  is strictly monadic.

*Proof.* From result (III) (see Section 6), we know that there is an adjunction  $F \dashv U$ . We now prove that the forgetful functor  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi) \rightarrow \mathbf{FRel}$  strictly creates coequalizers for all  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ -arrows f, g such that U(f), U(g) has a split coequalizer (in **FRel**). From this, it immediately follows by Beck's theorem (Proposition 2.25) that U is strictly monadic.

Let  $f, g : \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$  be  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ -arrows such that  $U(f), U(g) : (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  have a split coequalizer  $e : (B, d_B) \to (C, d_C)$ . We show that there exists a unique algebra  $\mathbb{C}$  in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  such that  $U(\mathbb{C}) = (C, d_C)$ , such that e = U(u) for  $u : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$  an arrow in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ , and such that u is a coequalizer of f, g in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

Recall that  $U_{\emptyset}$  is the forgetful functor  $U_{\emptyset} : \mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  from Theorem 6.1. Since  $U_{\emptyset}$  is strictly monadic (by Theorem 6.1), it satisfies condition (3) of Proposition 2.25. Since  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ -arrows between objects in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  coincide with  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ -arrows, i.e., they are both defined as nonexpansive homomorphisms of quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras, the condition (3) of Proposition 2.25 implies that there is a unique algebra  $\mathbb{C}$  in  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$  such that  $U_{\emptyset}(\mathbb{C}) = C$ , such that  $e = U_{\emptyset}(u)$  for  $u : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$  an arrow in  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ , and such that u is a coequalizer of f, g in  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$ .

Now,  $e = U_{\emptyset}(u)$  is a split coequalizer, so it has a right inverse  $r : (C, d_C) \rightarrow (B, d_B)$ . Hence, Lemma 6.2 applies and it says that  $\mathbb{C}$  satisfies all the equations and quantitative equations satisfied by  $\mathbb{B}$ . In particular,  $\mathbb{C}$  is a model of  $\Phi$  because  $\mathbb{B}$  is a model of  $\Phi$ , i.e.,  $\mathbb{C}$  and u are an object and morphism in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$ .

We conclude by noting that the uniqueness and universal property (being a coequalizer of f, g) of u that were true in  $\mathbf{QAlg}(\Sigma)$  are also true in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}(\Phi)$  because the latter is a full subcategory of the former.  $\Box$ 

### 7 Lifting Presentations from Set to FRel

We recall, from Definition 2.27, that a **Set** monad M has an equational presentation if there exists a class of equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  over some signature  $\Sigma$  such that  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\text{Set}} \cong M$ . A well known result, dating back to the seminal works of Lawvere [Law63] connecting the theory of monads with Universal Algebra, states that a **Set** monad M has an equational presentation if and only if it is *finitary* (see, e.g., [AR94, Chapter 3]). This result provides a useful correspondence between a logical notion (definability by equations) and a categorical one (finitary monad).

In the context of our theory of quantitative algebras, it is natural to give the following definition of **FRel** monads having a *quantitative equational presentation*.

**Definition 7.1** (Quantitative Equational Presentation). An **FRel** monad M has a quantitative equational presentation if there is a class of equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ , over some signature  $\Sigma$ , such that  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}} \cong M$ .

The problem of characterising which **FRel** monads have a quantitative equational presentation in terms of categorical properties seems to be hard. For instance, Adámek provides in [Adá22], Example 4.1] an example of a class  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  such that  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$  is not finitary. This example is formulated in the context of the framework of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin [MPP16], but can be reformulated in our setting (see also Section 9 where we compare the framework of [MPP16] with ours).

In this section we establish (Theorem 7.5) a correspondence between **FRel** monads that are *liftings of* **Set** monads (Definition 7.2) having an equational presentation  $\Psi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  (i.e., finitary **Set** monads) and *quantitative equational presentations*  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  that are *extensions* of  $\Psi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  (Definition 7.4).

Before proceeding with the formal definitions, since we have to deal with both **Set** and **FRel** monads, and with both classes of equations in  $\mathcal{P}(\text{Eq}(\Sigma))$ and classes of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations in  $\mathcal{P}(\text{QEq}(\Sigma))$ , in the the rest of this section we adopt the following notational convention:

- 1. We reserve the letters M and  $\Phi$  for **Set** monads and classes of equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$ , respectively.
- 2. We use the letters  $\widehat{M}$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , with the "hat" notation, for **FRel** monads  $\widehat{M}$  and classes of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq QEq(\Sigma)$ , respectively.

We first give the standard (see, e.g., <u>Bec69</u>, p. 121]) definition of lifting of a monad.

**Definition 7.2** (Monad Lifting). An **FRel** monad  $(\widehat{M}, \widehat{\eta}, \widehat{\mu})$  is a *lifting* of a **Set** monad  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  if:

$$UM = MU \quad U\hat{\eta} = \eta U \quad U\hat{\mu} = \mu U,$$

where  $U: \mathbf{FRel} \to \mathbf{Set}$  is the forgetful functor. More explicitly,

- (i) the action of  $\widehat{M}$  on objects is an assignment  $(A, d_A) \mapsto (MA, \widehat{d}_A)$  that lifts every fuzzy relation  $d_A$  on A to a fuzzy relation  $\widehat{d}_A$  on MA,
- (ii) the actions of  $\widehat{M}$  and M on morphisms coincide, set-theoretically,
- (iii) the units  $\eta$  and  $\hat{\eta}$  coincide, set-theoretically. This means that for any  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$ , the function  $\eta_A : A \to MA$  is nonexpansive when seen as the map of type  $\hat{\eta}_{(A,d_A)} : (A, d_A) \to (MA, \hat{d}_A)$ .
- (iv) the multiplications  $\mu$  and  $\hat{\mu}$  coincide, set-theoretically. This means that for any  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$ , the function  $\mu_A : MMA \to MA$  is nonexpansive when seen as the map of type  $\hat{\mu}_{(A,d_A)} : (MMA, \hat{d}_A) \to (MA, \hat{d}_A)$ .

Remark 7.3. Many monads of interest, on different **GMet** categories (like the usual category **Met** of metric spaces, see Section 2.3), are liftings of **Set** monads which have an equational presentation. Two important instances are the Hausdorff lifting of the finite powerset monad and the Kantorovich lifting of the finite distribution monad, on (pseudo-)metric spaces (see, e.g., [BBKK15], Examples 4.3 and 4.4]). There is also a combination of the two liftings: the Hausdorff–Kantorovich lifting of the convex sets of distributions monad [MV20] on (pseudo-)metric spaces. As a last example, we mention the formal ball monad on quasi-metric spaces [GL19] which is a lifting of a writer monad on **Set** (see also the quantitative writer monad of [BMPP21] §4.3.2]). It is a consequence of Theorem 7.5 (and its **GMet** variant Theorem 8.11) that all such liftings have quantitative equational presentations.

We now formally define when a class  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$  is an extension of a class  $\Phi \subseteq \operatorname{Eq}(\Sigma)$ .

**Definition 7.4** (Quantitative Extension). Let  $\Sigma$  be a signature. A class  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$  is a quantitative extension of a class  $\Phi \subseteq \operatorname{Eq}(\Sigma)$  if

for all 
$$(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$$
 and  $s, t \in \mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ ,  
 $\Phi \parallel_{\mathbf{Set}} \forall A.s = t \iff \widehat{\Phi} \parallel_{\mathbf{FRel}} \forall (A, d_A).s = t.$ 
(8)

This guarantees that the equations entailed by  $\widehat{\Phi}$  "coincide" with those of  $\Phi$ , in the sense that  $\forall A.s = t$  follows from  $\Phi$  if and only if  $\forall (A, d_A).s = t$ follows from  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , for all possible fuzzy relations  $d_A$  on A.

We are now ready to state our main result of this section.

**Theorem 7.5.** Let  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  be a monad on **Set** presented by  $\Phi \subseteq Eq(\Sigma)$ . Then:

- (1) For any quantitative extension  $\widehat{\Phi}$  of  $\Phi$ , there is a monad lifting  $\widehat{M}$  of M presented by  $\widehat{\Phi}$ .
- (2) For any monad lifting  $\widehat{M}$  of M, there is a quantitative extension  $\widehat{\Phi}$  of  $\Phi$  presenting  $\widehat{M}$ .

The goal of the rest of this section is to sketch the proof of the above theorem. A detailed proof is available in MSV23.

For the statement in Item 1 of the theorem, we are a given a class  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq$  QEq( $\Sigma$ ) extending  $\Phi \subseteq$  Eq( $\Sigma$ ), and a **Set** monad M presented by  $\Phi$  (with a given monad isomorphism  $\rho : T_{\Sigma, \Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}} \cong M$ ). Our goal is to exhibit an **FRel** monad  $\widehat{M}$  that lifts M and is presented by  $\widehat{\Phi}$ .

As a first step, we establish that, from the assumption that  $\widehat{\Phi}$  extends  $\Phi$ , it follows that  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$  is a monad lifting of  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}$ . Hence, diagrammatically, the assumptions can be depicted as below (left) and our goal is to complete the diagram as in the (right):

$$\begin{array}{cccccccccc} T^{\mathbf{FRel}}_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}} & \widehat{M} & \stackrel{\widehat{\ell}}{\cong} & T^{\mathbf{FRel}}_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}} \\ & & \downarrow U & & \downarrow U \\ M & \stackrel{\rho}{\cong} & T^{\mathbf{Set}}_{\Sigma,\Phi} & M & \stackrel{\rho}{\cong} & T^{\mathbf{Set}}_{\Sigma,\Phi} \end{array}$$

We thus need to define an **FRel** monad  $\widehat{M}$  lifting M. We remark that, from Definition 7.2 of monad lifting, the unit, the multiplication and the action on morphisms on any such  $\widehat{M}$  are fully determined (set-theoretically) by M. We therefore just need to specify the action of  $\widehat{M}$  on objects  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$ , respecting the constraint of Definition 7.2:

$$(A, d_A) \mapsto (MA, \widehat{d}_A).$$

Therefore, we only need to specify the fuzzy relation:  $\widehat{d}_A : (MA)^2 \to [0, 1]$ . To do this, we use the monad isomorphism  $\rho : T_{\Sigma, \Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}} \cong M$  to get a bijection

$$\rho_A^{-1}: MA \to \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_{\Phi}^A}$$

between MA and the set  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)/_{\equiv_{\Phi}^{A}}$  underlying  $T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\operatorname{Set}}$  and, as we have already established, also  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\operatorname{FRel}}$ . We can now define  $\widehat{d}_{A}$  as follows:

$$\forall m, m' \in MA, \ \widehat{d}_A(m, m') = \Delta^{F(A, d_A)}(\rho_A^{-1}(m), \rho_A^{-1}(m')),$$

where  $\Delta^{F(A,d_A)}$  is the distance on quotiented terms obtained in Definition 5.8.

This completes the set-theoretic definition of the **FRel** monad M. The verification that all these definitions are valid in **FRel** (i.e., that the unit, the multiplication and the action of morphisms yield nonexpansive maps) is straightforward. The fact that  $\widehat{M}$  is a lifting of M follows directly from its construction.

Finally, we define the components of the monad isomorphism  $\hat{\rho}$ :

$$\widehat{\rho}_{(A,d_A)}: T^{\mathbf{FRel}}_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}(A,d_A) \to \widehat{M}(A,d_A)$$

to coincide with  $\rho_A : T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}}A \to MA$ , for every  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{FRel}$ . Checking that  $\widehat{\rho}_{(A,d_A)}$  is indeed a map in **FRel** (i.e., it is nonexpansive) and that  $\widehat{\rho}$  satisfies the constraints of a monad isomorphism is also straightforward.

For the statement in Item 2 of the theorem, we are given an **FRel** monad  $\widehat{M}$  which is a lifting of a given **Set** monad M presented by some class of equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{Eq}(\Sigma)$  (with a given monad isomorphism  $\rho : T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\text{Set}} \cong M$ ). Our goal is to exhibit a class of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  such that: (i)  $\widehat{\Phi}$  is a quantitative extension of  $\Phi$  and (ii) there is a monad isomorphism  $\widehat{\rho} : T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\text{FRel}} \cong \widehat{M}$ .

We define  $\widehat{\Phi}$  to be the union of a class of **FRel** equations  $\widehat{\Phi}_{EQ}$  and a class of **FRel** quantitative equations  $\widehat{\Phi}_{QEQ}$ 

$$\widehat{\Phi} = \widehat{\Phi}_{EQ} \cup \widehat{\Phi}_{QEQ}$$

defined as follows.

The class  $\widehat{\Phi}_{EQ}$  consists of all equations  $\forall X.s = t$  entailed by  $\Phi$ , transformed to **FRel** equations  $\forall (X, d).s = t$ , for all possible fuzzy relations d on X:

$$\widehat{\Phi}_{\mathrm{EQ}} = \{ \forall (X, d) . s = t \mid \Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \forall X . s = t \text{ and } (X, d) \in \mathbf{FRel} \}.$$
(9)

The class  $\widehat{\Phi}_{\text{QEQ}}$  contains quantitative equations of the form  $\forall (X, d).s =_{\epsilon} t$ , for all possible **FRel** spaces (X, d) and  $s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$ . The  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ , expressing the distance between s and t, is obtained by:

(a) using the monad isomorphism  $\rho: T_{\Sigma,\Phi}^{\mathbf{Set}} \cong M$  to get a bijection:

$$\rho_X : \operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)/_{\equiv \Phi} \to MX$$

where the equivalence  $\equiv_{\Phi}$  is defined as:  $s \equiv_{\Phi} t \Leftrightarrow \Phi \parallel_{\mathbf{Set}} \forall X.s = t$  (see Example 2.12),

(b) using the distance provided by the given **FRel** monad  $\hat{M}$ ,  $\hat{M}(X,d) = (MX, \hat{d})$ , to obtain the required value for  $\epsilon$ :

$$\epsilon = d(\rho_X([s]_{\equiv \Phi}), \rho_X([t]_{\equiv \Phi})).$$

Thus, formally:

$$\widehat{\Phi}_{\text{QEQ}} = \left\{ \forall (X, d).s =_{\epsilon} t \mid (X, d) \in \mathbf{FRel}, s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X), \\ \text{and } \epsilon = \widehat{d} \left( \rho_X([s]_{\equiv_{\Phi}}), \rho_X([t]_{\equiv_{\Phi}}) \right) \right\}.$$
(10)

The rest of the proof consists in verifying that the defined  $\widehat{\Phi} = \widehat{\Phi}_{EQ} \cup \widehat{\Phi}_{QEQ}$ satisfies the desired properties: (i)  $\widehat{\Phi}$  extends  $\Phi$  and (ii)  $\widehat{\rho}$ , defined settheoretically as  $\rho$ , is a monad isomorphism  $\widehat{\rho} : T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}} \cong \widehat{M}$ .

### 8 From Fuzzy Relations to Generalised Metric Spaces

Most of the literature on quantitative algebras following the seminal paper [MPP16] (see, e.g., [MSV21], [Adá22], [BMPP21], [BMPP18]) considers quantitative algebras whose carriers are metric spaces. Up to this point, our results have been stated for quantitative algebras (in the sense of Definition 3.1) whose carriers are arbitrary fuzzy relations.

In this section, we show that all the results proved so far also hold when, instead of **FRel**, we take as base category an arbitrary category **GMet** of generalised metric spaces (see Section 2.3), such as the category **Met** of metric spaces.

In what follows, we fix a category of generalised metric spaces **GMet** defined by a set  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications (see Definition 2.30) and a signature  $\Sigma$ . We denote by **QAlg<sup>GMet</sup>**( $\Sigma$ ) the full subcategory of **QAlg<sup>FRel</sup>**( $\Sigma$ ) comprising only quantitative algebras whose underlying fuzzy relations satisfy the  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications defining **GMet**:

$$\mathbf{QAlg^{GMet}}(\Sigma) = \{ (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma}) \mid (A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H} \} \subseteq \mathbf{QAlg^{FRel}}(\Sigma).$$
(11)

Given a class of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi \subseteq QEq(\Sigma)$ , we also denote by  $QMod_{\Sigma}^{GMet}(\Phi)$  the full subcategory of  $QMod_{\Sigma}^{FRel}(\Phi)$ comprising only quantitative algebras that belong to  $QAlg^{GMet}(\Sigma)$ :

$$\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi) = \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma) \cap \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi).$$
(12)

Note that since we are taking full subcategories, homomorphisms of **GMet** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras are still nonexpansive homomorphisms of the underlying  $\Sigma$ -algebras.

We first show that  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma)$  is a quantitative equationally definable class of quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras in the sense of Definition 3.8. In other words, we show (Corollary 8.6) that there is a class  $\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \subseteq \mathrm{QEq}(\Sigma)$  of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations such that

$$\mathbf{QAlg^{GMet}}(\Sigma) = \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}}).$$

We prove this fact by giving an explicit procedure to translate any  $\mathscr{L}$ implication  $H \in \mathcal{H}$  to an **FRel** equation or quantitative equation  $\phi_H \in QEq(\Sigma)$  having the following property:

For any quantitative algebra  $(A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma}) \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma),$ 

$$(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H \iff \mathbb{A} \models \phi_H.$$

In fact, the terms in  $\phi_H$  will not be built using any of the operations  $op \in \Sigma$ , so this translation is independent of the signature  $\Sigma$ .

**Definition 8.1** (Translation). Let

$$H = \forall x_1, \dots, x_n. \left( \left( G_1 \wedge \dots \wedge G_m \wedge G'_1 \dots \wedge G'_k \right) \Rightarrow F \right)$$

be an  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication, where:

- We denote with  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  the set of variables occurring in H. Note that this set cannot be empty as the atomic formulas in H (not empty because F is one of them) are predicates  $(x = y \text{ or } d(x, y) \le \epsilon)$ which must use variables.
- All atomic formulas  $G_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le m$  (possibly an empty set when m = 0), are of the form:

x = y

for some  $x, y \in X$ ,

• All atomic formulas  $G'_j$ ,  $1 \le j \le k$  (possibly an empty set when k = 0), are of the form:

 $d(x,y) \le \epsilon$ 

for some  $x, y \in X$  and  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ .

We are going to define a (quantitative) equation  $\phi_H \in \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  constructed from H. We first use the premises  $(G_1, \ldots, G_m, G'_1, \ldots, G'_k)$  of H to construct a fuzzy relation space  $(X_H, d_H)$ . Let  $\sim \subseteq X \times X$  be the smallest equivalence relation on X generated by (i.e., containing all) the pairs:

 $\{(x, x') \mid \text{there is a formula } G_i \text{ in } H \text{ of the form: } x = x' \}.$ 

Hence, ~ consists of exactly all pairs (x, y) of variables in X such that x = y is logically implied by the conjunction of all formulas  $G_i$ . Let us denote with  $X_H$  the quotient  $X/_{\sim}$ , i.e., the set of all ~-equivalence classes. Finally, let  $d_H: X_H \times X_H \to [0, 1]$  be the following fuzzy relation on  $X_H$ 

$$d_H([x]_{\sim}, [x']_{\sim}) = \min \left\{ \epsilon \in [0, 1] \middle| \begin{array}{c} \text{there is a formula } G'_j \text{ in } H \\ \text{of the form: } d(y, y') \leq \epsilon, \\ \text{with } y \in [x]_{\sim} \text{ and } y' \in [x']_{\sim} \end{array} \right\},$$

with the convention  $\min(\emptyset) = 1$ . We have thereby defined the fuzzy relation space  $(X_H, d_H)$ .

Now we use the conclusion F of H to construct  $\phi_H$  which can be either an **FRel** equation or an **FRel** quantitative equation depending on F:

• If F is of the form x = y, for some  $x, y \in X$ , then:

 $\phi_H$  is defined as:  $\forall (X_H, d_H) \cdot [x]_{\sim} = [y]_{\sim}$ 

• If F is of the form  $d(x, y) \leq \epsilon$ , for some  $x, y \in X$  and  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ , then:

$$\phi_H$$
 is defined as:  $\forall (X_H, d_H) . [x]_{\sim} =_{\epsilon} [y]_{\sim}.$ 

We note that the two terms  $([x]_{\sim} \text{ and } [y]_{\sim})$  appearing in  $\phi_H$  belong to  $\operatorname{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X_H)$ , because they both belong to  $X_H$ , for any specific choice of signature  $\Sigma$ . Hence the translation is well-defined for all  $\Sigma$ .

Before proving the main result regarding this translation (Lemma 8.4) we provide some illustrative examples.

*Example* 8.2. Consider the  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication H (a logically equivalent variant of (1) in Section 2.3):

$$\forall x_1.x_2. \ (x_1 = x_2 \ \Rightarrow \ d(x_1, x_2) \le 0).$$
(13)

We are in the case where  $X = \{x_1, x_2\}, n = 2$  (two variables), m = 1 (one atomic equation among the premises) and k = 0 (no atomic formula of the form  $d(x, y) \leq \epsilon$  among the premises). Since the only premise  $(G_1)$ 

of the formula is  $x_1 = x_2$ , we have that  $x_1 \sim x_2$ , and thus  $X_H$  consists of only one element  $X_H = \{ [x_1]_{\sim} \}$ . By the definition of  $d_H$  we have that  $d_H([x_1]_{\sim}, [x_1]_{\sim}) = 1$ . Finally, since the conclusion is of the form  $d(x_1, x_2) \leq 0$ , we have that  $\phi_H$  is defined as:

$$\forall (\{[x_1]_{\sim}\}, d_H). \ [x_1]_{\sim} =_0 [x_1]_{\sim}.$$

Now, we note that a nonexpansive interpretation  $\tau : (X_H, d_H) \to (A, d_A)$ is simply a choice of an element  $a = \tau([x_1]_{\sim}) \in A$ , and  $\phi_H$  holds under such an assignment if and only if  $d_A(a, a) = 0$ . Therefore, an algebra  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg^{FRel}}(\Sigma)$  satisfies  $\phi_H$  if and only if all elements of A have self-distance 0. This is indeed also the meaning of the  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication (13) and of the logically equivalent variant (1).

*Example* 8.3. Consider the  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication H (cf. (3) in Section 2.3):

$$\forall x_1, x_2. \ \left( d(x_1, x_2) \le \epsilon \ \Rightarrow \ d(x_2, x_1) \le \epsilon \right).$$
(14)

We are in the case where  $X = \{x_1, x_2\}$ , n = 2 (two variables), m = 0 (no atomic equations among the premises) and k = 1 (one atomic formula of the form  $d(x, y) \leq \epsilon$  among the premises). In this case, the equivalence  $\sim$  is the identity relation on X, hence  $X_H = X$ . By the definition of  $d_H$ , we have

$$d_H(x_1, x_1) = 1$$
  $d_H(x_1, x_2) = \epsilon$   $d_H(x_2, x_1) = 1$   $d_H(x_2, x_2) = 1$ .

Finally, since the conclusion is of the form  $d(x_2, x_1) \leq \epsilon$ , we have that  $\phi_H$  is defined as:

$$\forall (\{x_1, x_2\}, d_H). \ x_2 =_{\epsilon} x_1.$$

One can check that a quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra satisfies  $\phi_H$  if and only if the underlying fuzzy relation is symmetric, which is exactly what satisfaction of (14) means.

**Lemma 8.4.** Let  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  be an **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra, H be an  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication, and  $\phi_H$  be the corresponding (quantitative) equation constructed in Definition 8.1. Then

$$(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$$

*Proof.* Let H be of the form described in Definition 8.1

$$\forall x_1, \dots, x_n. \Big( (G_1 \wedge \dots \wedge G_m \wedge G'_1 \dots \wedge G'_k) \Rightarrow F \Big),$$

and let  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ . We consider in parallel the two cases when the conclusion F is of the form

$$x = y$$
 or  $d(x, y) \le \epsilon$ 

for some  $x, y \in X$ . Let  $\phi_H$  be defined as in Definition 8.1 and be of the form:

$$\forall (X_H, d_H). \ [x]_{\sim} = [y]_{\sim} \qquad \text{or} \qquad \forall (X_H, d_H). \ [x]_{\sim} =_{\epsilon} [y]_{\sim}.$$

We first show  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$  implies  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$ .

Assume  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$  holds. This means that for all interpretations  $\iota : X \to A$  of the variables X, if all premises  $G_i$  and  $G'_j$  hold under the interpretation  $\iota$  then also F holds under  $\iota$ . Our goal is to prove that  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$ . This amount to showing that, for all interpretations of the fuzzy relation  $(X_H, d_H)$  in  $\mathbb{A}$ , i.e., for all nonexpansive maps  $\tau : (X_H, d_H) \to (A, d_A)$ , it holds that:

$$\llbracket [x]_{\sim} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{A}} = \llbracket [y]_{\sim} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{A}} \quad \text{or} \quad d_A \left( \llbracket [x]_{\sim} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{A}}, \llbracket [y]_{\sim} \rrbracket_{\tau}^{\mathbb{A}} \right) \le \epsilon$$

or equivalently, by definition of [\_], that:

$$\tau([x]_{\sim}) = \tau([y]_{\sim}) \qquad \text{or} \qquad d_A(\tau([x]_{\sim}), \tau([y]_{\sim})) \le \epsilon.$$
(15)

So let us fix an arbitrary such  $\tau$ . Let  $\iota_{\tau} : X \to A$  be the interpretation of the variables X defined as follows:

$$\iota_{\tau}(x) = \tau([x]_{\sim}).$$

We can show that all the premises  $G_i$  and  $G'_j$  of H hold under the interpretation  $\iota_{\tau}$ . Indeed consider  $G_i$  of the form

$$x = y$$

By definition of the equivalence relation ~ from Definition 8.1, we know that  $x \sim y$ , or equivalently  $[x]_{\sim} = [y]_{\sim}$ , so we infer that  $\iota_{\tau}(x) = \iota_{\tau}(y)$ , and this means the premise  $G_i$  holds under  $\iota$ . Now consider a premise  $G'_i$  of the form

$$d(x,y) \le \epsilon.$$

By definition of  $d_H$  as a minimum from Definition 8.1, we know that the inequality  $d_H([x]_{\sim}, [y]_{\sim}) \leq \epsilon$  holds. From the fact that  $\tau$  is nonexpansive, we can therefore deduce that:

$$d_A(\tau([x]_{\sim}), \tau([y]_{\sim})) \le \epsilon,$$

which, by definition of  $\iota_{\tau}$ , is equivalent to

$$d_A(\iota_\tau(x),\iota_\tau(y)) \le \epsilon,$$

which in turn precisely means that  $\iota_{\tau}$  satisfies the premise  $G'_{i}$ .

Hence, we have established that the interpretation  $\iota_{\tau}$  satisfies all the premises  $G_i$  and  $G'_j$  of H and therefore, by the assumption  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$ , we know that it also satisfies the conclusion F, which means that:

$$\iota_{\tau}(x) = \iota_{\tau}(y)$$
 or  $d_A(\iota_{\tau}(x), \iota_{\tau}(y)) \le \epsilon$ .

This in turn, by definition of  $\iota_{\tau}(x)$ , means that

$$\tau([x]_{\sim}) = \tau([y]_{\sim}) \qquad \text{or} \qquad d_A(\tau([x]_{\sim}), \tau([y]_{\sim})) \le \epsilon$$

This concludes the proof of (15). Since  $\tau$  is arbitrary, we have established that  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$ .

We now show that  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$  implies  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$ . Assume  $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$ . This means that for every interpretation of  $(X_H, d_H)$  in  $\mathbb{A}$ , i.e., every nonexpansive map  $\tau : (X_H, d_H) \to (A, d_A)$ , (15) holds. Our goal is to show that  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$ . This amount to showing that, for all interpretations  $\iota : X \to A$  of the variables X, if all the premises  $G_i$  and  $G'_j$  of H are satisfied under the interpretation  $\iota$  then also the conclusion F is satisfied by  $\iota$ , i.e.:

$$\iota(x) = \iota(y) \qquad \text{or} \qquad d_A(\iota(x), \iota(y)) \le \epsilon$$
 (16)

So let us fix an arbitrary  $\iota$  satisfying all of the premises  $G_i$  and  $G'_j$  of H. Let  $\tau_{\iota} : (X_H, d_H) \to (A, d_A)$  be the interpretation of  $(X_H, d_H)$  in  $\mathbb{A}$  defined as follows:

$$\tau_{\iota}([x]_{\sim}) = \iota(x)$$

Before moving further, we need to verify two facts:

1. that  $\tau_{\iota}$  is well-defined, i.e., that the definition does not depend on any specific choice of representative  $x \in [x]_{\sim}$  of the equivalence class. Formally, we need to show that if  $x_1 \sim x_2$ , then  $\iota(x_1) = \iota(x_2)$ .

Proof of fact Item [] Assume  $x_1 \sim x_2$ . By definition of  $\sim$ , this means that the satisfaction of all the premises  $G_i$  in H implies satisfaction of the predicate  $x_1 = x_2$ . Since, by assumption,  $\iota$  satisfies all premises in H, this means that  $\iota(x_1) = \iota(x_2)$  as desired.

2. that (the well-defined)  $\tau_{\iota}$  is a nonexpansive map.

Proof of fact Item 2: Assume  $d_H([x_1]_{\sim}, [x_2]_{\sim}) \leq \epsilon$ , for some  $[x_1]_{\sim}, [x_2]_{\sim} \in X_H$  and  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ . We need to show that  $d_A(\tau_{\iota}([x_1]_{\sim}), \tau_{\iota}([x_2]_{\sim})) \leq \epsilon$  holds. Equivalently, by definition of  $\tau_{\iota}$ , we need to show that the inequality  $d_A(\iota(x_1), \iota(x_2)) \leq \epsilon$  holds. Recall from Definition 8.1 that  $d_H([x_1]_{\sim}, [x_2]_{\sim})$  is defined as a minimum of all  $\delta$ 's such that there is

some premise  $G'_j$  in H of the form  $d(x_1, x_2) \leq \delta$ . Therefore, since  $\iota$  satisfies all the premises of H by assumption, we know that:

$$d_A(\iota(x_1),\iota(x_2)) \le \delta$$

for all the  $\delta$ 's involved in the minimised expression. Hence

$$d_A(\iota(x_1),\iota(x_2)) \le \epsilon$$

as desired.

Now that we have defined the interpretation  $\tau_{\iota}$ , we can apply the hypothesis ( $\mathbb{A} \models \phi_H$ ) and obtain that the following holds:

 $\tau_{\iota}([x]_{\sim}) = \tau_{\iota}([y]_{\sim}) \quad \text{or} \quad d_{A}(\tau_{\iota}([x]_{\sim}), \tau_{\iota}([y]_{\sim})) \le \epsilon$ 

By definition of  $\tau_{\iota}$ , this means that:

$$\iota(x) = \iota(y)$$
 or  $d_A(\iota(x), \iota(y)) \le \epsilon$ 

which means that the interpretation  $\iota$  satisfies the conclusion F. Since  $\iota$  is arbitrary, we have established that  $(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H$ .  $\Box$ 

We can obtain a few useful corollaries from Lemma 8.4. The first extends the result of Lemma 8.4 from one  $\mathscr{L}$ -implication H to a set  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications. In what follows, we define the set  $\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \subseteq \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$  as the set of (quantitative) equations:

$$\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} = \{ \phi_H \mid H \in \mathcal{H} \text{ and } \phi_H \text{ is a (quantitative) equation translating } H \}$$

where the translation is the one specified in Definition 8.1.

**Corollary 8.5.** Let  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  be an **FRel** quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a set of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications. Then

$$(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H} \quad \iff \quad \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}}).$$

Proof. We have

$$(A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H} \Leftrightarrow \forall H \in \mathcal{H}. \ (A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} H \qquad \text{(by definition)} \\ \Leftrightarrow \forall \phi_H \in \Phi_{\mathcal{H}}. \ \mathbb{A} \models \phi_H \qquad \text{(by Lemma 8.4)} \\ \Leftrightarrow \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}}) \qquad \text{(by definition)}. \qquad \Box$$

Hence, the class of quantitative algebras  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma)$ , which contains exactly those algebras satisfying the  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications in  $\mathcal{H}$ , is quantitative equationally definable. **Corollary 8.6.** For any signature  $\Sigma$  and any **GMet** category defined by a set  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications,

$$\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}}) = \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma).$$

*Proof.* We have that for any quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$ ,

$$\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}}) \Leftrightarrow (A, d_A) \models^{\mathscr{L}} \mathcal{H} \qquad \text{(by Corollary 8.5)} \\ \Leftrightarrow \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma) \qquad \text{(by (11))}$$

Since both  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}})$  and  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma)$  are full subcategories of the category  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$  and we have shown that they have the same objects, they are the same categories.

An important instance of this corollary is when  $\Sigma$  is empty. The category  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma)$  is then simply the category of fuzzy relations that satisfy  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e., it is **GMet**. Thus, we have shown that **GMet** is a quantitative equationally definable class of fuzzy relations.

The next corollary is a further generalisation of the previous one, showing that for any class of equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ ,  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  is a quantitative equationally definable family of quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras. Namely, the full subcategories  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi)$  and  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  of  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$  coincide.

**Corollary 8.7.** For any signature  $\Sigma$ , for any **GMet** category defined by a set  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications, and for any class  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations,

$$\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi) = \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi).$$

*Proof.* For any quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$ , we have

$$\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi) \Leftrightarrow \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi) \text{ and } \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}})$$
(by Corollary 8.6)
$$\Leftrightarrow \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi) \text{ and } \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Sigma)$$
(by (12))
$$\Leftrightarrow \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi).$$

Hence,  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi)$  and  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  have the same objects, and, since they are full subcategories of  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Sigma)$ , they also have the same morphisms.

We can now show that all the results proved for **FRel** in Section 4.Section 5.Section 6 and Section 7 also hold when specialised for a category **GMet** defined by a set  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications.

Starting from the relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  for **FRel** defined in Definition 4.1, we define a relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  for **GMet** as follows:

 $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}} \phi \Longleftrightarrow \Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi.$ 

Theorem 8.8 shows that the relation  $\vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  is sound and complete for the relation  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}}$ , which is the restriction of  $\parallel \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}$  to  $\mathbf{GMet}$  defined as follows:

$$\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}} \phi \Longleftrightarrow \forall \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi), \ \mathbb{A} \models \phi.$$

**Theorem 8.8** (Soundness and Completeness for **GMet**).  $\Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}} \phi \iff \Phi \parallel_{\mathbf{GMet}} \phi$ .

*Proof.* We have

$$\begin{split} \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}} \phi \Leftrightarrow \Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi \vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi & (\text{definition of } \vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}}) \\ \Leftrightarrow \Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}} \phi & (\text{by Corollary 5.18}) \\ \Leftrightarrow \forall \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi), \ \mathbb{A} \models \phi & (\text{definition of } \Vdash_{\mathbf{FRel}}) \\ \Leftrightarrow \forall \mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi), \ \mathbb{A} \models \phi & (\text{by Corollary 8.7}) \\ \Leftrightarrow \Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}} \phi. & (\text{definition of } \Vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}}) \Box \end{split}$$

Now fix a class of equations and quantitative equations  $\Phi \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$ . We have the following diagram:



where:

- *E* is the (full and faithful) functor embedding **GMet** into **FRel**;
- $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  is the forgetful functor of type  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}} : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi) \rightarrow \mathbf{GMet};$
- U is the forgetful functor of type  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{\mathcal{H}} \cup \Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$ , which indeed also has type  $U : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{FRel}$  by Corollary 8.7;

• F is the left adjoint of the forgetful functor U, as given in Section 6

We can then define the functor  $F_{\mathbf{GMet}}: \mathbf{GMet} \to \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  as follows

$$F_{\mathbf{GMet}} = F \circ E.$$

**Theorem 8.9.** The functor  $F_{\mathbf{GMet}}$ :  $\mathbf{GMet} \to \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  is a left adjoint of  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$ :  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{GMet}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\eta : \mathrm{id}_{\mathbf{FRel}} \Rightarrow U \circ F$  be the unit of the adjunction  $F \dashv U$ . For any **GMet** space  $(A, d_A)$ , define

$$\eta'_{(A,d_A)} = \eta_{E(A,d_A)} : E(A,d_A) \to UFE(A,d_A)$$

Since, by the diagram (17) we have  $UFE(A, d_A) = EU_{\mathbf{GMet}}FE(A, d_A) = EU_{\mathbf{GMet}}F_{\mathbf{GMet}}(A, d_A)$ , and since E embeds a **GMet** space into an **FRel** space, we can see  $\eta'_{(A,d_A)}$  as a function of type

$$\eta'_{(A,d_A)}: (A,d_A) \to U_{\mathbf{GMet}}F_{\mathbf{GMet}}(A,d_A)$$

Since  $\eta$  is a natural transformation and E acts like identity on morphisms, we also obtain a natural transformation

$$\eta' : \mathrm{id}_{\mathbf{GMet}} \Rightarrow U_{\mathbf{GMet}} F_{\mathbf{GMet}}$$

Now take a **GMet** space  $(A, d_A)$ , a quantitative algebra

$$\mathbb{B} = (B, d_B, \{op^{\mathbb{B}}\}_{op \in \Sigma}) \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$$

and a nonexpansive map  $f : (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$ . Since  $F \dashv U$  is an adjunction with unit  $\eta$ , by seeing f as the **FRel** morphism E(f) we obtain that there is a unique quantitative algebra homomorphism  $g : F(E(A, d_A)) \to \mathbb{B}$  such that  $E(f) = U(g) \circ \eta_{E(A, d_A)}$ .

By definition of the embedding E and of  $\eta'_{(A,d_A)}$ , this implies that there is a unique quantitative algebra homomorphism  $g: F_{\mathbf{GMet}}(A, d_A) \to \mathbb{B}$  such that  $f = U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(g) \circ \eta'_{(A,d_A)}$ . Hence,  $F_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  is a left adjoint of  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$ .  $\Box$ 

Note that, by definition, the functor  $F_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  acts as the functor F on **GMet** spaces, and thus the free  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$ -object generated by a generalised metric space  $(A, d_A)$  is the quantitative algebra of quotiented terms built as in Section 5. The monad on **GMet** obtained from the composite  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}} \circ F_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  will be denoted  $T_{\Sigma, \Phi}^{\mathbf{GMet}}$ .

Moreover, we have strict monadicity of the functor  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$ .<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>This is direct a consequence of a more abstract result sometimes called "cancellability of monadicity", see <u>Bou92</u>, Proposition 5] or <u>AM23</u>, Corollary 5.6]. We a give a direct proof to keep the document self contained.

**Theorem 8.10.** The functor  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}} : \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi) \to \mathbf{GMet}$  is strictly monadic.

*Proof.* By Beck's theorem, in order to show that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  is strictly monadic it is enough to show that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  strictly creates coequalizers for pairs of morphisms  $f, g \in \mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  such that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}f$  and  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}g$  have an absolute coequalizer.

Let  $f, g : \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$  be such a pair and

$$U_{\mathbf{GMet}} \mathbb{A} \xrightarrow[U_{\mathbf{GMet}g}]{U_{\mathbf{GMet}g}} U_{\mathbf{GMet}} \mathbb{B} \xrightarrow{h} (C, d_C)$$
(18)

be an absolute coequalizer in **GMet**. Applying E to (18), we obtain an absolute coequalizer in **FRel**:

$$U\mathbb{A} \xrightarrow{Uf} U\mathbb{B} \xrightarrow{Eh} E(C, d_C)$$

By Theorem 6.3 we know that U is strictly monadic, and thus strictly creates coequalizers for pairs of arrows f, g such that Uf and Ug have an absolute coequalizer. So, we derive that there exists a unique morphism  $\hat{h} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$ in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  such that  $U(\mathbb{C}) = E(C, d_C)$  and  $U(\hat{h}) = Eh$  and  $\hat{h}$  is a coequalizer for f, g.

Moreover, we also have that  $\hat{h} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$  is unique in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  such that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(\mathbb{C}) = (C, d_C), U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(\hat{h}) = h$  and  $\hat{h}$  is a coequalizer of f and g. To see this, suppose that  $u : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}'$  in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$  is a coequalizer of f and g such that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(\mathbb{C}') = (C, d_C)$  and  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(u) = h$ . Then, applying E yields  $U(\mathbb{C}') = E(C, d_C)$  and U(u) = Eh, and because U strictly creates coequalizers of f and g, we must have  $\hat{h} = u$ .

Hence, we have obtained that  $\hat{h} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$  is unique in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi)$ such that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(\mathbb{C}) = (C, d_C)$  and  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}(\hat{h}) = h$ , and that it is a coequalizer of f, g. This allows us to conclude that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}$  strictly creates coequalizers for pairs of arrows f, g such that  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}f$  and  $U_{\mathbf{GMet}}g$  have an absolute coequalizer.  $\Box$ 

Finally, we adapt the results of Section 7 to **GMet**. The three central notions of quantitative equational presentations (Definition 7.1), monad liftings (Definition 7.2) and quantitative extensions (Definition 7.4) just need to be modified in a straightforward way by replacing all instances of **FRel** to **GMet**.<sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Note that the notion of equation and quantitative equation remains as in Definition 3.4, i.e.,  $(A, d_A)$  in  $\forall (A, d_A).s = t$  and  $\forall (A, d_A).s =_{\epsilon} t$  is an arbitrary **FRel** space.

First, a quantitative equational presentation of a monad M on **GMet** is a class of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \text{QEq}(\Sigma)$  along with a monad isomorphism  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{GMet}} \cong M$ , where we recall that  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{GMet}}$  is the monad obtained from going around the triangle in (17). Second, a **GMet** monad  $(\widehat{M}, \widehat{\eta}, \widehat{\mu})$  is a **GMet** lifting of a **Set** monad  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  if

$$U\widehat{M} = MU \quad U\widehat{\eta} = \eta U \quad U\widehat{\mu} = \mu U,$$

where U is now the forgetful functor  $U : \mathbf{GMet} \to \mathbf{Set}$ . The explicit description of what it means to be a monad lifting (in Definition 7.2) is still valid after replacing fuzzy relations with generalised metric spaces. Third, a class of **FRel** equations and quantitative equations  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \mathrm{QEq}(\Sigma)$  is a **GMet** quantitative extension of  $\Phi \subseteq \mathrm{Eq}(\Sigma)$  if:

for all 
$$(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{GMet}$$
 and  $s, t \in \mathrm{Terms}_{\Sigma}(A)$ ,  
 $\Phi \Vdash_{\mathbf{Set}} \forall A.s = t \iff \widehat{\Phi} \Vdash_{\mathbf{GMet}} \forall (A, d_A).s = t.$ 
(19)

This simple transformation can also be carried out in the proofs, yielding the following theorem.

**Theorem 8.11.** Let  $(M, \eta, \mu)$  be a monad on **Set** presented by  $\Phi \subseteq Eq(\Sigma)$ . The following holds:

- (1) For any **GMet** quantitative extension  $\widehat{\Phi}$  of  $\Phi$ , there is a **GMet** monad lifting  $\widehat{M}$  of M presented by  $\widehat{\Phi}$ .
- (2) For any **GMet** monad lifting  $\widehat{M}$  of M, there is a **GMet** quantitative extension  $\widehat{\Phi}$  of  $\Phi$  that presents  $\widehat{M}$ .

While the proof of Theorem 8.11 above is essentially identical to that of Theorem 7.5, the results that the two theorems state may present some subtle differences.

For instance, there are classes of equations and quantitative equations  $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \operatorname{QEq}(\Sigma)$  such that  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{GMet}}$  is a **GMet** monad lifting (of some monad M on **Set**) but  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$  is not. For a concrete example, let  $\Sigma = \emptyset$  and  $\widehat{\Phi}$  be the class  $\Phi_{\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{Met}}}$  resulting from the translation (as in Definition 8.1) of the set of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{Met}}$  defining the category **Met** (see Definition 2.32). It is readily seen that the monad  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{GMet}}$  on **Met** is a lifting of the identity monad on **Set**. However, the monad  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$  on **FRel** is not a lifting of the any monad on **Set**. It sends  $(A, d_A)$  to  $(A, d_A)$  when  $d_A$  is a metric, but when e.g.  $d_A(a, b) = 0$  for  $a \neq b \in A$ , the carrier set of  $T_{\Sigma,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(A, d_A)$  will be a quotient of A where a and b are identified. This means  $T_{\emptyset,\widehat{\Phi}}^{\mathbf{FRel}}$  cannot lift a monad on **Set** because it sends two fuzzy relations with identical carrier set to fuzzy relations with different carriers.

# 9 Comparison with the Framework of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin

In Section 3 we have formally introduced our theory of quantitative algebras and in sections Section 4, Section 5, Section 6, Section 7 and Section 8 we have stated and proved the main results.

In this section we compare our theory with the original one presented in the seminal paper <u>MPP16</u>. For clarity purposes, in what follows we refer to our theory as "MSV theory" (for Mio, Sarkis and Vignudelli <u>MSV23</u>) and to that of <u>MPP16</u> as "MPP theory".

A first point of comparison is that the MPP theory deals with quantitative algebras over metric spaces formally specified as follows:<sup>17</sup>

**Definition 9.1** (MPP Quantitative Algebra). [MPP16] Definition 3.1] Given a signature  $\Sigma$ , a MPP quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra is a triple  $(A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$ such that  $(A, d_A) \in \mathbf{Met}$  is a metric space and such that all interpretations of operation symbols in the signature  $op^A : A^n \to A$  (where ar(op) = n) are nonexpansive functions

$$op^A : (A^n, d^n_A) \to (A, d_A),$$

where  $d_A^n$  is the product metric defined as:  $d_A^n((a_1,\ldots,a_n),(a'_1,\ldots,a'_n)) = \max_{i=1,\ldots,n} \{d_A(a_i,a'_i)\}.$ 

As a result, it only makes sense to compare the MPP theory to the MSV theory restricted to the category **Met** of metric spaces. This restriction is done by first seeing **Met** as the category of fuzzy relations satisfying the  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications in  $\mathcal{H}_{Met}$  as explained in Section 2.3, and then instantiating the results of Section 8 with **GMet** = **Met**.

Note that a MPP quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebra is a MSV quantitative  $\Sigma$ algebra  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Sigma)$  such that all the interpretations  $op^A$  are nonexpansive in the sense of Definition 9.1. It is straightforward to see that, for a given  $op \in \Sigma$  of arity n, the interpretation  $op^A$  of a quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Sigma)$  is nonexpansive if and only if  $\mathbb{A}$  satisfies all the following quantitative equations  $\phi_d^{op}$ , one for each fuzzy relation  $d: X^2 \to [0, 1]$ , where  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n, x'_1, \ldots, x'_n\}$ 

$$\forall (X,d).op(x_1,\ldots,x_n) =_{\epsilon} op(x'_1,\ldots,x'_n) \qquad \epsilon = \max_{i=1\ldots n} \{d(x_i,x'_i)\}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>A technical difference between Definition 9.1 and MPP16 Definition 3.1] is that the metrics of the latter are actually extended metrics, i.e.  $d_A(a, b)$  ranges in  $[0, \infty]$  instead of [0, 1].

In other words,  $op^A$  is nonexpansive in the sense of Definition 9.1 if and only if  $\mathbb{A}$  belongs to  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Phi_{NE}^{op})$ , where  $\Phi_{NE}^{op}$  is the class of quantitative equations

$$\Phi_{NE}^{op} = \bigcup_{d: X^2 \to [0,1]} \{\phi_d^{op}\}$$

Therefore the class of MPP quantitative  $\Sigma$ -algebras is a quantitative equationally definable class of MSV quantitative algebras in  $\mathbf{QAlg}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Sigma)$ , and its theory is generated by

$$\Phi_{NE} = \bigcup_{op \in \Sigma} \Phi_{NE}^{op}.$$

Furthermore, it is an immediate consequence of Corollary 8.7 that the class of MPP quantitative algebras can be quantitative equationally defined in  $\mathbf{QAlg^{FRel}}(\Sigma)$  as the class  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{FRel}}(\Phi_{NE} \cup \Phi_{\mathcal{H}_{Met}})$ 

*Remark* 9.2. Note that the MSV theory allows for other interesting properties of  $op^A$  to be defined by quantitative equations. For example, by using:

$$\epsilon = \alpha \cdot \max_{i=1...n} \{ d(x_i, x_i) \}$$
 for some  $\alpha > 0$ 

in the definition of  $\phi_d^{op}$  one expresses the property of being Lipschitz with constant  $\alpha$  (nonexpansivness being the case  $\alpha = 1$ ).

We now proceed to compare the logical expressiveness of the MPP and MSV frameworks.

First, we observe that in the MSV theory restricted to **Met**, equations of the form  $\forall (X, d).s = t$  and quantitative equations  $\forall (X, d).s =_0 t$  are semantically equivalent, and in fact mutually derivable in the deductive system  $\vdash_{\mathbf{Met}}$ . This just reflects the fact that metric spaces satisfy the property  $x = y \Leftrightarrow d(x, y) = 0$  (c.f. the set  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{Met}}$  of  $\mathscr{L}$ -implications defining the category **Met** in Section 2.3). Hence in the MSV theory for **Met**, as far as expressiveness is concerned, we can just restrict our attention to quantitative equations.

Secondly, the basic logical judgment in the MPP framework is a form of implication (possibly with infinitely many premises), called *quantitative inference*, of the form<sup>I8</sup>

$$\{s_i =_{\epsilon_i} t_i\}_{i \in I} \Rightarrow s =_{\epsilon} t,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The notation used in [MPP16]. Definition 2.1] is  $\{s_i =_{\epsilon_i} t_i\}_{i \in I} \vdash s =_{\epsilon} t$ , but it clashes with our use of the turnstile  $\vdash$ , so we write  $\Rightarrow$  instead.

where  $s_i, t_i, s, t \in \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$ , for some set X, and  $\epsilon_i, \epsilon \in [0, 1]$ . A MPP quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  (or, alternatively, a MSV quantitative algebra in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{Met}}(\Phi_{NE})$ , as noted above) satisfies such a judgment J, written  $\mathbb{A} \models_{\text{MPP}} J$ , if for all set-theoretic interpretations  $j : X \to A$ it holds that:

if, for all  $i \in I$ ,  $d_A(\llbracket s_i \rrbracket_j^{\mathbb{A}}, \llbracket t_i \rrbracket_j^{\mathbb{A}}) \leq \epsilon_i$  holds, then  $d_A(\llbracket s_i \rrbracket_j^{\mathbb{A}}, \llbracket t_i \rrbracket_j^{\mathbb{A}}) \leq \epsilon$ .

A judgment J is called a *basic quantitative inference* if all the terms  $s_i, t_i$  appearing on the left-side of the implication are variables in X, i.e., J is of the form:

$$\{x_i =_{\epsilon_i} x'_i\}_{i \in I} \Rightarrow s =_{\epsilon} t.$$

One can verify that for every basic quantitative inference J of the above shape and for any MSV quantitative algebra  $\mathbb{A} = (A, d_A, \{op^A\}_{op \in \Sigma})$  in  $\mathbf{QMod}_{\Sigma}^{\mathbf{GMet}}(\Phi_{NE})$  it holds that:

$$\mathbb{A}\models_{\mathrm{MPP}} J \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \mathbb{A}\models \phi_J,$$

where  $\phi_J$  is the formula  $\forall (X, d_X) . s =_{\epsilon} t$  with X being the set of variables appearing in the premises of J and  $d_X : X^2 \to [0, 1]$  defined as follows:

$$d_X(x, x') = \inf \{ \epsilon_i \mid (x = \epsilon_i x') \text{ is among the premises of } J \}$$

where the infimum of the empty set is 1. Note that, in the formula  $\phi_J$ , the fuzzy relation  $(X, d_X)$  is constructed (in a similar fashion to the translation of Definition 8.1) to ensure that nonexpansive interpretations  $\tau : (X, d_X) \rightarrow (A, d_A)$  correspond to set-theoretic interpretations  $j : X \rightarrow A$  satisfying the premises of J (i.e.  $\forall i \in I, d_X(j(x_i), j(x'_i)) \leq \epsilon_i$ ).

In the opposite direction, given any quantitative equation  $\phi$  of the form  $\forall (X, d_X) . s =_{\epsilon} t$ , it holds that

$$\mathbb{A}\models_{\mathrm{MPP}} J_{\phi} \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \mathbb{A}\models \phi$$

where  $J_{\phi}$  is

$$\{x =_{d_X(x,x')} x'\}_{x,x' \in X} \Rightarrow s =_{\epsilon} t.$$

We can therefore conclude that the expressive power of MPP basic inferences J and MSV quantitative equations  $\phi$  is the same. This means that our MSV theory, restricted to **Met**, coincides with the MPP theory where only *basic* quantitative inferences are used. We note that this is a mild restriction, as most interesting results and application instances of the MPP framework only use basic quantitative inferences [MPP16], [MPP17], [BMPP18], [BMPP21], [MV20], [MSV21], [MSV22] As a further point of comparison, we now discuss the proof systems. Note that our MSV proof system  $\vdash_{Met}$ , which we have proved to be sound and complete, is not obtained by simply "restricting" the MPP proof system of [MPP16] to basic quantitative inferences (via the translation  $J \mapsto \phi_J$ ). Indeed the MPP proof system is not "closed under basic quantitative inferences". The reason is the presence in the MPP proof system of the following substitution rule:

Rule (Subst) in MPP16, Definition 2.1]

$$\frac{\left\{ s_{i} =_{\epsilon_{i}} t_{i} \right\}_{i \in I} \Rightarrow s =_{\epsilon} t}{\left\{ \sigma(s_{i}) =_{\epsilon_{i}} \sigma(t_{i}) \right\}_{i \in I} \Rightarrow \sigma(s) =_{\epsilon} \sigma(t)}$$
Substitution by  $\sigma$ 

where all terms have variables ranging over a set X and  $\sigma : X \to \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$  is a substitution, which is homomorphically extended to a function of type  $\sigma : \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X) \to \text{Terms}_{\Sigma}(X)$ .

Note that even in the case where the premise of the substitution rule is a basic quantitative inference (i.e., the terms  $s_i$  and  $t_i$  are variables for all  $i \in I$ ), the conclusion of the rule is generally not a basic quantitative inference, because the substitution is also applied to the premises.

This highlights the novelty in the design of our MSV proof system  $\vdash_{Met}$  (the new substitution rule), which in turn also proves a novel result applicable to the MPP theory: a sound and complete proof system for basic quantitative inference exists (via the translation  $\phi \mapsto J_{\phi}$ ).

To conclude, we now compare the expressiveness of the MPP theory and of the MSV theory in terms of which **Met** monads can be presented, respectively, by a class of basic quantitative inferences and by a class of quantitative equations. By exploiting the correspondence between monad liftings and quantitative extensions proved in Section 7, instantiated to the category **Met** via Theorem 8.11, we show the following result:

There exist monads on **Met** which can be presented by a class of quantitative equations in the MSV theory, but which cannot be presented by a class of basic quantitative inferences in the MPP theory.

To see this, consider the (finite, non-empty) powerset monad  $(\mathscr{P}, \eta, \mu)$ on **Set**, which is presented by the equations  $\Phi$  of semilattices. Define the monad  $(\widehat{\mathscr{P}}, \widehat{\eta}, \widehat{\mu})$  on **Met** where the functor  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}} : \mathbf{Met} \to \mathbf{Met}$  is such that

$$\widehat{\mathscr{P}}(X,d) = (\mathscr{P}X,\widehat{d}) \quad \text{with} \quad \widehat{d}(S,S') = \begin{cases} 0 & S = S' \\ d(x,y) & S = \{x\} \text{ and } S' = \{y\} \\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and where the unit  $\hat{\eta}$  and multiplication  $\hat{\mu}$  coincide, as **Set** functions, with the unit  $\eta$  and multiplication  $\mu$  of the monad  $\mathscr{P}$ . The **Met** monad  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}}$  is a monad lifting of the **Set** monad  $\mathscr{P}$ , and this implies by Theorem 8.11 that there is a **Met** quantitative extension  $\hat{\Phi}$  of the equations of semilattices  $\Phi$ which is a presentation of  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}}$ . Hence,  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}}$  has a presentation in the MSV theory.

In contrast, there is no class of basic quantitative inferences presenting the monad  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}}$  in the MPP theory. This is a consequence of the fact that all monads which can be presented by a class of basic quantitative inferences in the MPP theory are enriched (see [ADV23], Theorem 8.10]), and that the monad  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}}$  is not enriched. A proof of such properties of the monad  $\widehat{\mathscr{P}}$  is available in [MSV23].

#### 10 Conclusions and Directions for Future Work

We have presented an extension of the theory of quantitative algebras of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin MPP16. In our theory the carriers of quantitative algebras are not restricted to be metric spaces and can be arbitrary fuzzy relations (or generalised metric spaces) and the interpretations of the algebraic operations are not required to be nonexpansive. We have established some key results, including the soundness and completeness of a novel proof system, the existence of free quantitative algebras, the strict monadicity of the associated Free-Forgetful adjunction, and the correspondence between monad liftings of a finitary monad and quantitative extensions of an equational presentation.

A first direction for future work is to adapt and generalise to our setting some theoretical results obtained for the framework of Mardare, Panangaden and Plotkin [MPP16]. Examples include: monad composition techniques [BMPP18] (see also [BMPP22]), fixed-points [MPP21], completion techniques [BMPP18], variety "HSP-style" theorems<sup>19</sup> [MPP17], Adá22].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Jan Jurka, Stefan Milius and Henning Urbat already have preliminary results in this direction: talk titled "Varieties of Quantitative Algebras: A Categorical Perspective" given by Henning Urbat at the QUALOG 2023 workshop, the 25th of June 2023, Boston (USA).

A second direction, more oriented towards applications, consists in leveraging the additional flexibility provided by our theory. For example, in **DLHLP22** the authors investigate Curry's *combinatory logic* (an algebraic counterpart of the  $\lambda$ -calculus) under the lenses of quantitative algebras, and they point out the need of considering operations that are not nonexpansive and carriers that are *partial ultra-metrics*. As the latter is an example of **GMet** category, in the sense of Section 2.3, the research line of DLHLP22 can be carried out within the framework presented in this work. Similarly, in MSV22 the authors have investigated the Łukaszyk–Karmowski distance on *diffuse metric spaces* [HS00, CKPR21] of probability distributions. This is yet another type of **GMet** category that can be formalised within our framework. As a last example, in GF23 the authors investigate "quantitative rewriting systems" and need to go beyond nonexpansive operations, by admitting (in what they call "graded rewriting systems") Lipschitz operations with constant  $\alpha > 1$ . As noted in Remark 9.2, it is possible in our theory to express, by means of quantitative equations, that operations are Lipschitz for any  $\alpha > 1$ .

A third direction for future work consists in exploring further generalisations of our framework. For example, our choice of considering fuzzy relations  $d_A: A^2 \to [0, 1]$  has been made, somewhat arbitrarily, as a compromise between maximal generality and the convenience of dealing with a concrete notion of numeric distance. But it would be possible to work with distances  $d_A: A^2 \to [0, \infty]$  (valued in the extended real line) as in [MPP16] or, even more generally,  $d_A: A^2 \to Q$  where Q is an abstract quantale [PC96]. We expect that all our results can be easily adapted to such variants, but details needs to be carefully verified. In a similar direction, it could be interesting to follow the work of [FMS21] and move beyond "distances" and towards arbitrary relational structures.

Finally, a fourth direction is to use our deductive apparatus to reason quantitatively about program distances as, e.g., suggested in the preliminary examples given in [MSV21], §VI] in the context of process algebras. In particular, adapting the well-known framework of (equational) "up-to techniques" (see, e.g., [BPPR17]) to the quantitative setting (see, e.g., [BKP18]) appears to be a promising endeavour.

### References

[Adá22] Jirí Adámek. Varieties of quantitative algebras and their monads. In Christel Baier and Dana Fisman, editors, *LICS 2022:* 37th Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Sci-
ence, Haifa, Israel, August 2 - 5, 2022, pages 9:1–9:10. ACM, 2022. doi:10.1145/3531130.3532405.

- [ADV22] Jirí Adámek, Matej Dostál, and Jiri Velebil. A categorical view of varieties of ordered algebras. Math. Struct. Comput. Sci., 32(4):349–373, 2022. doi:10.1017/S0960129521000463.
- [ADV23] J. Adámek, M. Dostál, and J. Velebil. Quantitative algebras and a classification of metric monads, December 2023. arXiv: 2210.01565v4.
- [AFMS21] Jirí Adámek, Chase Ford, Stefan Milius, and Lutz Schröder. Finitary monads on the category of posets. Math. Struct. Comput. Sci., 31(7):799–821, 2021. doi:10.1017/ S0960129521000360.
- [AHS06] Jirí Adámek, Horst Herrlich, and George E Strecker. Abstract and concrete categories; the joy of cats 2004. *Reprints in The*ory and Applications of Categories, 17:1–507, 2006. Originally published by: John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1990.
- [AM23] Nathanael Arkor and Dylan McDermott. Relative monadicity, May 2023. arXiv:2305.10405v1.
- [AR94] J. Adamek and J. Rosicky. Locally Presentable and Accessible Categories. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, 1994. doi:10.1017/ CB09780511600579.
- [Awo10] Steve Awodey. *Category Theory*. Oxord University Press, 2010.
- [BBKK15] Paolo Baldan, Filippo Bonchi, Henning Kerstan, and Barbara König. Towards Trace Metrics via Functor Lifting. In Lawrence S. Moss and Pawel Sobocinski, editors, 6th Conference on Algebra and Coalgebra in Computer Science (CALCO 2015), volume 35 of Leibniz International Proceedings in Informatics (LIPIcs), pages 35–49, Dagstuhl, Germany, 2015. Schloss Dagstuhl-Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik. URL: http://drops.dagstuhl.de/opus/volltexte/2015/5525, doi:10.4230/LIPIcs.CALC0.2015.35.
- [BBLM18a] Giorgio Bacci, Giovanni Bacci, Kim G. Larsen, and Radu Mardare. Complete axiomatization for the total variation distance of

markov chains. In Sam Staton, editor, Proceedings of the Thirty-Fourth Conference on the Mathematical Foundations of Programming Semantics, MFPS 2018, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada, June 6-9, 2018, volume 341 of Electronic Notes in Theoretical Computer Science, pages 27–39. Elsevier, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.entcs.2018.03.014.

- [BBLM18b] Giorgio Bacci, Giovanni Bacci, Kim G. Larsen, and Radu Mardare. A complete quantitative deduction system for the bisimilarity distance on markov chains. Log. Methods Comput. Sci., 14(4), 2018. doi:10.23638/LMCS-14(4:15)2018.
- [Bec69] Jon Beck. Distributive laws. In B. Eckmann, editor, Seminar on Triples and Categorical Homology Theory, pages 119–140, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1969. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [BKP18] Filippo Bonchi, Barbara König, and Daniela Petrisan. Up-To Techniques for Behavioural Metrics via Fibrations. In Sven Schewe and Lijun Zhang, editors, 29th International Conference on Concurrency Theory (CONCUR 2018), volume 118 of Leibniz International Proceedings in Informatics (LIPIcs), pages 17:1–17:17, Dagstuhl, Germany, 2018. Schloss Dagstuhl-Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik. URL: http: //drops.dagstuhl.de/opus/volltexte/2018/9555, doi:10. 4230/LIPIcs.CONCUR.2018.17.
- [BMPP18] Giorgio Bacci, Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden, and Gordon D. Plotkin. An algebraic theory of markov processes. In Anuj Dawar and Erich Grädel, editors, Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS 2018, Oxford, UK, July 09-12, 2018, pages 679–688. ACM, 2018. doi:10.1145/3209108.3209177.
- [BMPP21] Giorgio Bacci, Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden, and Gordon D. Plotkin. Tensor of quantitative equational theories. In Fabio Gadducci and Alexandra Silva, editors, 9th Conference on Algebra and Coalgebra in Computer Science, CALCO 2021, August 31 to September 3, 2021, Salzburg, Austria, volume 211 of LIPIcs, pages 7:1–7:17. Schloss Dagstuhl - Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2021. doi:10.4230/LIPIcs.CALCO.2021.7.
- [BMPP22] Giorgio Bacci, Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden, and Gordon D. Plotkin. Sum and tensor of quantitative effects. *CoRR*,

abs/2212.11784, 2022. arXiv:2212.11784, doi:10.48550/ arXiv.2212.11784.

- [Bou92] Dominique Bourn. Low dimensional geometry of the notion of choice. In *Category Theory 1991, CMS Conference Proceedings*, volume 13, pages 55–73, 1992.
- [BPPR17] Filippo Bonchi, Daniela Petrisan, Damien Pous, and Jurriaan Rot. A general account of coinduction up-to. *Acta Informatica*, 54(2):127–190, 2017. doi:10.1007/s00236-016-0271-4.
- [Bra00] A. Branciari. A fixed point theorem of Banach-Caccioppoli type on a class of generalized metric spaces. *Publ. Math. Debr.*, 57(1-2):31–37, 2000.
- [BS81] Stanley Burris and Hanamantagouda P. Sankappanavar. A course in universal algebra, volume 78 of Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer, 1981.
- [BvBR98] Marcello M. Bonsangue, Franck van Breugel, and Jan J. M. M. Rutten. Generalized metric spaces: Completion, topology, and powerdomains via the yoneda embedding. *Theor. Comput. Sci.*, 193(1-2):1–51, 1998. doi:10.1016/S0304-3975(97)00042-X.
- [BW05] Michael Barr and Charles Wells. Toposes, triples and theories. *Reprints in Theory and Applications of Categories*, 12:1–287, 2005. Originally published by: John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1990.
- [CKPR21] Pablo Samuel Castro, Tyler Kastner, Prakash Panangaden, and Mark Rowland. Mico: Improved representations via samplingbased state similarity for markov decision processes. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 34:30113–30126, 2021.
- [Cze93] Stefan Czerwik. Contraction mappings in *b*-metric spaces. Acta mathematica et informatica universitatis ostraviensis, 1(1):5–11, 1993.
- [DEP02] Josée Desharnais, Abbas Edalat, and Prakash Panangaden. Bisimulation for labelled markov processes. *Inf. Comput.*, 179(2):163–193, 2002. doi:10.1006/inco.2001.2962.
- [DGJP99] Josée Desharnais, Vineet Gupta, Radha Jagadeesan, and Prakash Panangaden. Metrics for labeled markov systems.

In Jos C. M. Baeten and Sjouke Mauw, editors, CONCUR '99: Concurrency Theory, 10th International Conference, Eindhoven, The Netherlands, August 24-27, 1999, Proceedings, volume 1664 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 258–273. Springer, 1999. doi:10.1007/3-540-48320-9\\_19.

- [DJGP02] Josée Desharnais, Radha Jagadeesan, Vineet Gupta, and Prakash Panangaden. The metric analogue of weak bisimulation for probabilistic processes. In 17th IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science (LICS 2002), 22-25 July 2002, Copenhagen, Denmark, Proceedings, pages 413–422. IEEE Computer Society, 2002. doi:10.1109/LICS.2002.1029849.
- [DLHLP22] Ugo Dal Lago, Furio Honsell, Marina Lenisa, and Paolo Pistone. On Quantitative Algebraic Higher-Order Theories. In Amy P. Felty, editor, 7th International Conference on Formal Structures for Computation and Deduction (FSCD 2022), volume 228 of Leibniz International Proceedings in Informatics (LIPIcs), pages 4:1-4:18, Dagstuhl, Germany, 2022. Schloss Dagstuhl – Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik. URL: https://drops.dagstuhl.de/opus/volltexte/ 2022/16285, doi:10.4230/LIPIcs.FSCD.2022.4.
- [FMS21] Chase Ford, Stefan Milius, and Lutz Schröder. Monads on categories of relational structures. In Fabio Gadducci and Alexandra Silva, editors, 9th Conference on Algebra and Coalgebra in Computer Science, CALCO 2021, August 31 to September 3, 2021, Salzburg, Austria, volume 211 of LIPIcs, pages 14:1–14:17. Schloss Dagstuhl Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2021.
   doi:10.4230/LIPIcs.CALCO.2021.14.
- [GF23] Francesco Gavazzo and Cecilia Di Florio. Elements of quantitative rewriting. *Proc. ACM Program. Lang.*, 7(POPL):1832– 1863, 2023. doi:10.1145/3571256.
- [GJS90] Alessandro Giacalone, Chi-Chang Jou, and Scott A. Smolka. Algebraic reasoning for probabilistic concurrent systems. In Manfred Broy and Cliff B. Jones, editors, Programming concepts and methods: Proceedings of the IFIP Working Group 2.2, 2.3 Working Conference on Programming Concepts and Methods, Sea of Galilee, Israel, 2-5 April, 1990, pages 443–458. North-Holland, 1990.

- [GL19] Jean Goubault-Larrecq. Formal ball monads. Topology and its Applications, 263:372-391, 2019. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0166864119302160, doi:10.1016/j.topol.2019.06.044.
- [GMMS17] Tomasz Gogacz, Henryk Michalewski, Matteo Mio, and Michal Skrzypczak. Measure properties of regular sets of trees. Inf. Comput., 256:108–130, 2017. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ic.2017.04.012, doi:10.1016/J.IC.2017.04.012.
- [HP07] Martin Hyland and John Power. The category theoretic understanding of universal algebra: Lawvere theories and monads. In Luca Cardelli, Marcelo Fiore, and Glynn Winskel, editors, Computation, Meaning, and Logic: Articles dedicated to Gordon Plotkin, volume 172 of Electronic Notes in Theoretical Computer Science, pages 437–458. Elsevier, 2007. doi: 10.1016/j.entcs.2007.02.019.
- [HS00] Pascal Hitzler and Anthony Karel Seda. Dislocated topologies. J. Electr. Eng, 51(12):3–7, 2000.
- [Law63] F. W. Lawvere. Functorial semantics of algebraic theories. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 50:869–872, 1963. doi:10.1073/pnas.
   50.5.869.
- [LM19] Christophe Lucas and Matteo Mio. Towards a structural proof theory of probabilistic \mu -calculi. In Mikolaj Bojanczyk and Alex Simpson, editors, Foundations of Software Science and Computation Structures - 22nd International Conference, FOS-SACS 2019, Held as Part of the European Joint Conferences on Theory and Practice of Software, ETAPS 2019, Prague, Czech Republic, April 6-11, 2019, Proceedings, volume 11425 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 418–435. Springer, 2019. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-17127-8\\_24.
- [LM21] Christophe Lucas and Matteo Mio. Free modal riesz spaces are archimedean: A syntactic proof. In Uli Fahrenberg, Mai Gehrke, Luigi Santocanale, and Michael Winter, editors, Relational and Algebraic Methods in Computer Science - 19th International Conference, RAMiCS 2021, Marseille, France, November 2-5, 2021, Proceedings, volume 13027 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 275–291. Springer, 2021. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-88701-8\\_17.

- [LM22] Christophe Lucas and Matteo Mio. Proof theory of riesz spaces and modal riesz spaces. Log. Methods Comput. Sci., 18(1), 2022. URL: https://doi.org/10.46298/lmcs-18(1:32)2022, doi: 10.46298/LMCS-18(1:32)2022.
- [Mac88] S. MacLane. *Categories for the working mathematician*. Springer-Verlag, 2nd edition, 1988.
- [MFM17] Matteo Mio, Robert Furber, and Radu Mardare. Riesz modal logic for markov processes. In 32nd Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS 2017, Reykjavik, Iceland, June 20-23, 2017, pages 1–12. IEEE Computer Society, 2017. doi:10.1109/LICS.2017.8005091.
- [Mio12a] Matteo Mio. Game Semantics for Probabilistic  $\mu$ -Calculi. PhD thesis, School of Informatics, University of Edinburgh, 2012.
- [Mio12b] Matteo Mio. On the equivalence of game and denotational semantics for the probabilistic mu-calculus. *Log. Methods Comput. Sci.*, 8(2), 2012. doi:10.2168/LMCS-8(2:7)2012.
- [Mio12c] Matteo Mio. Probabilistic modal μ-calculus with independent product. Log. Methods Comput. Sci., 8(4), 2012. doi:10.2168/ LMCS-8(4:18)2012.
- [Mio13] Matteo Mio. Upper-expectation bisimilarity and real-valued modal logics. *CoRR*, abs/1310.0768, 2013. URL: http:// arxiv.org/abs/1310.0768, arXiv:1310.0768.
- [Mio14] Matteo Mio. Upper-expectation bisimilarity and łukasiewicz μcalculus. In Anca Muscholl, editor, Foundations of Software Science and Computation Structures - 17th International Conference, FOSSACS 2014, Held as Part of the European Joint Conferences on Theory and Practice of Software, ETAPS 2014, Grenoble, France, April 5-13, 2014, Proceedings, volume 8412 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 335–350. Springer, 2014. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-54830-7\\_22.
- [Mio18] Matteo Mio. Riesz modal logic with threshold operators. In Anuj Dawar and Erich Grädel, editors, Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS 2018, Oxford, UK, July 09-12, 2018, pages 710–719. ACM, 2018. doi:10.1145/3209108.3209118.

- [MM15] Henryk Michalewski and Matteo Mio. On the problem of computing the probability of regular sets of trees. In Prahladh Harsha and G. Ramalingam, editors, 35th IARCS Annual Conference on Foundation of Software Technology and Theoretical Computer Science, FSTTCS 2015, December 16-18, 2015, Bangalore, India, volume 45 of LIPIcs, pages 489–502. Schloss Dagstuhl Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2015. URL: https://doi.org/10.4230/LIPIcs.FSTTCS.2015.489, doi:10.4230/LIPICS.FSTTCS.2015.489.
- [Mog91] Eugenio Moggi. Notions of computation and monads. *Inf. Comput.*, 93(1):55–92, 1991. doi:10.1016/0890-5401(91)90052-4.
- [MPP16] Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden, and Gordon D. Plotkin. Quantitative algebraic reasoning. In Martin Grohe, Eric Koskinen, and Natarajan Shankar, editors, Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS '16, New York, NY, USA, July 5-8, 2016, pages 700–709. ACM, 2016. doi:10.1145/2933575.2934518.
- [MPP17] Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden, and Gordon D. Plotkin. On the axiomatizability of quantitative algebras. In 32nd Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS 2017, Reykjavik, Iceland, June 20-23, 2017, pages 1– 12. IEEE Computer Society, 2017. doi:10.1109/LICS.2017.
  8005102.
- [MPP21] Radu Mardare, Prakash Panangaden, and Gordon D. Plotkin. Fixed-points for quantitative equational logics. In 36th Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS 2021, Rome, Italy, June 29 - July 2, 2021, pages 1–13. IEEE, 2021. doi:10.1109/LICS52264.2021.9470662.
- [MS13] Matteo Mio and Alex Simpson. A proof system for compositional verification of probabilistic concurrent processes. In Frank Pfenning, editor, Foundations of Software Science and Computation Structures 16th International Conference, FOS-SACS 2013, Held as Part of the European Joint Conferences on Theory and Practice of Software, ETAPS 2013, Rome, Italy, March 16-24, 2013. Proceedings, volume 7794 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 161–176. Springer, 2013. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-37075-5\\_11.

- [MS17] Matteo Mio and Alex Simpson. Łukasiewicz  $\mu$ -calculus. Fundam. Informaticae, 150(3-4):317–346, 2017. doi:10.3233/ FI-2017-1472.
- [MSM18] Matteo Mio, Michal Skrzypczak, and Henryk Michalewski. Monadic second order logic with measure and category quantifiers. Log. Methods Comput. Sci., 14(2), 2018. doi:10.23638/ LMCS-14(2:2)2018.
- [MSV21] Matteo Mio, Ralph Sarkis, and Valeria Vignudelli. Combining nondeterminism, probability, and termination: Equational and metric reasoning. In 36th Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS 2021, Rome, Italy, June 29 - July 2, 2021, pages 1–14. IEEE, 2021. doi:10.1109/ LICS52264.2021.9470717.
- [MSV22] Matteo Mio, Ralph Sarkis, and Valeria Vignudelli. Beyond nonexpansive operations in quantitative algebraic reasoning. In Christel Baier and Dana Fisman, editors, LICS '22: 37th Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, Haifa, Israel, August 2 - 5, 2022, pages 52:1–52:13. ACM, 2022. doi:10.1145/3531130.3533366.
- [MSV23] Matteo Mio, Ralph Sarkis, and Valeria Vignudelli. Universal quantitative algebra for fuzzy relations and generalised metric spaces. Under Peer Review for publication: Logical Methods in Computer Science, abs/2304.14361, 2023. URL: https: //doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2304.14361, arXiv:2304.14361, doi:10.48550/ARXIV.2304.14361.
- [MV20] Matteo Mio and Valeria Vignudelli. Monads and quantitative equational theories for nondeterminism and probability. In Igor Konnov and Laura Kovács, editors, 31st International Conference on Concurrency Theory, CONCUR 2020, September 1-4, 2020, Vienna, Austria (Virtual Conference), volume 171 of LIPIcs, pages 28:1–28:18. Schloss Dagstuhl - Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2020. doi:10.4230/LIPIcs.CONCUR.2020.28.
- [PC96] Mario Piazza and Maurizio Castellan. Quantales and structural rules. J. Log. Comput., 6(5):709–724, 1996. doi:10.1093/ logcom/6.5.709.

- [PP03] Gordon D. Plotkin and John Power. Algebraic operations and generic effects. *Appl. Categorical Struct.*, 11(1):69–94, 2003.
   doi:10.1023/A:1023064908962.
- [Rie17] Emily Riehl. Category Theory in Context. Aurora: Dover Modern Math Originals. Dover Publications, 2017. URL: https: //emilyriehl.github.io/files/context.pdf.
- [RT93] Jan J. M. M. Rutten and Daniele Turi. Initial algebra and final coalgebra semantics for concurrency. In J. W. de Bakker, Willem P. de Roever, and Grzegorz Rozenberg, editors, A Decade of Concurrency, Reflections and Perspectives, REX School/Symposium, Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands, June 1-4, 1993, Proceedings, volume 803 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 530–582. Springer, 1993. doi:10.1007/3-540-58043-3\\_28.
- [vBW01a] Franck van Breugel and James Worrell. An algorithm for quantitative verification of probabilistic transition systems. In Kim Guldstrand Larsen and Mogens Nielsen, editors, CON-CUR 2001 - Concurrency Theory, 12th International Conference, Aalborg, Denmark, August 20-25, 2001, Proceedings, volume 2154 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 336–350. Springer, 2001. doi:10.1007/3-540-44685-0\\_23.
- [vBW01b] Franck van Breugel and James Worrell. Towards quantitative verification of probabilistic transition systems. In Fernando Orejas, Paul G. Spirakis, and Jan van Leeuwen, editors, Automata, Languages and Programming, 28th International Colloquium, ICALP 2001, Crete, Greece, July 8-12, 2001, Proceedings, volume 2076 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 421–432. Springer, 2001. doi:10.1007/3-540-48224-5\\_35.
- [vBW05] Franck van Breugel and James Worrell. A behavioural pseudometric for probabilistic transition systems. *Theor. Comput. Sci.*, 331(1):115–142, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.tcs.2004.09.035.
- [Wec92] Wolfgang Wechler. Universal algebra for computer scientists. In EATCS Monographs on Theoretical Computer Science, 1992.
- [Wil31a] W. A. Wilson. On quasi-metric spaces. American Journal of Mathematics, 53(3):675–684, 1931.

- [Wil31b] Wallace Alvin Wilson. On semi-metric spaces. American Journal of Mathematics, 53(2):361–373, 1931. URL: http://www. jstor.org/stable/2370790.
- [Zad71] L.A. Zadeh. Similarity relations and fuzzy orderings. Information Sciences, 3(2):177-200, 1971. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0020025571800051, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0020-0255(71)80005-1.